
1

Agenda
Contact Officer: Nicola Meurer, Democratic Services Officer

Tel: 01235 422523

E-mail: nicola.meurer@southandvale.gov.uk

Date: 6 December 2016

Website: http://www.southoxon.gov.uk

A MEETING OF THE

Planning Committee
WILL BE HELD ON WEDNESDAY 14 DECEMBER 2016 AT 6.00 PM

FOUNTAIN CONFERENCE CENTRE, HOWBERY PARK, BENSON LANE, 
OX10 8BA

Members of the Committee:
Felix Bloomfield (Chairman)
Joan Bland
Margaret Davies
Anthony Dearlove
Jeannette Matelot

Toby Newman (Vice-
Chairman)
David Nimmo-Smith
Richard Pullen
David Turner

Margaret Turner
Ian White

Substitutes
Charles Bailey
Stefan Gawrysiak
Paul Harrison

Stephen Harrod
Lorraine Hillier
Elaine Hornsby

Imran Lokhon
Sue Lawson

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request.  These include 
large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read. For this or any other special 
requirements (such as access facilities) please contact the officer named on this 
agenda.  Please give as much notice as possible before the meeting.

MARGARET REED

Head of Legal and Democratic Services

Public Document Pack



2

1 Apologies  

2 Declarations of disclosable pecuniary interest  

To receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests, and other 
declarations, in respect of items on the agenda for this meeting.  

3 Minutes of the previous meeting  (Pages 7 - 14)

To adopt and sign as a correct record the minutes of the committee meeting held on 
23 November 2016.

4 Urgent items  

5 Applications deferred or withdrawn  

6 Proposals for site visits  

Development control applications

Planning applications - background papers and additional 
information

All the background papers with the exception of those papers marked 
exempt/confidential (eg those held in enforcement files) used in the reports in this 
agenda are held in the application file (working file) referenced by the application 
number. 

Any additional information received following the publication of this agenda will be 
reported and summarised at the meeting.

Summary index of applications
Site Address Proposal Application No Pages 

7 Longwood, 
Maidensgrove  

This application has been deferred 
for consideration to allow for 
further ecological assessment.

P16/S1140/FUL 15 - 30

8 116-118 Greys 
Road, Henley-
on-Thames  

Full planning application for a 
residential development comprising 
17 residential units, together with 
associated access, car parking, cycle 
storage, landscaping and drainage, 
following the demolition of all existing 
buildings.

P16/S2459/FUL 31 - 50

9 35 Marston 
Road, Thame  

To construct on to the end of an 
existing terraced row of houses two 

P16/S2785/FUL 51 - 64



3

independent one bedroom studio flats 
in a two storey extension.

10 7 Gidley Way, 
Horspath  

New 2 bedroom attached house and 
associated works, including new 
entrance porch to adjoining property 
(7 Gidley Way) and vehicle access.

P16/S3516/FUL 65 - 74

11 25 Henley Road, 
Shillingford  

Dwelling house with garden and 
parking and associated works.

P16/S3461/FUL 75 - 94

12 The Farmhouse 
and Breach 
Farm Barn, 
Wheatley Road, 
Stanton St John  

The Farmhouse: Application to 
remove condition 9 (agricultural 
occupancy) on P10/W1125.
(Erection of an agricultural worker's 
dwelling APP/Q3115/A/10/2140369)
Breach Farm Barn: Application to 
remove condition 5 (agricultural 
occupancy) on application 
P11/W0903.

(Alterations and extensions to stone 
barn to form a dwelling house for 
occupation by an agricultural worker 
and associated ground works.)
NB. A unilateral undertaking has been 
drawn up to transfer the agricultural 
occupancy conditions (above) to 
Bramble Cottage and Blackberry 
Cottage (previously approved as open 
market residential accommodation). 
This legal agreement forms part of the 
current application.

P16/S2292/FUL 
and 
P16/S2293/FUL

95 - 110

13 Land adjacent 
to Eyres Lane 
and Eyres 
Close, Ewelme  

Change of use of land for the siting of 
up to five residential caravans.

P16/S3587/FUL 111 - 
120

14 Land on the 
north side of 
the A4130 near 
Oakley Wood, 
Springfield 
Park, Nuffield  

Creation of a new vehicular access 
(retrospective) (As amended by 
location/block plan and technical note 
attached to the agent's email dated 
17 October 2016).

P16/S2811/FUL 121 - 
128

15 White Lodge, 
Normanstead, 
Henley-on-
Thames  

Variation of condition 10 of planning 
permission P15/S1166/FUL, to revise 
the landscaping proposal.

P16/S2623/FUL 129 - 
146



4



1

Minutes
OF A MEETING OF THE

Planning Committee

HELD AT 6.00 PM ON WEDNESDAY 23 NOVEMBER 2016

DIDCOT CIVIC HALL, BRITWELL ROAD, DIDCOT, OX11 7JN

Present:

Felix Bloomfield (Chairman)

Joan Bland, Margaret Davies, Anthony Dearlove, Jeannette Matelot, David Nimmo-
Smith, Richard Pullen, David Turner and Ian White

Apologies:

Toby Newman tendered apologies. 

Officers:

Sharon Crawford, Kim Gould, Paul Lucas, Nicola Meurer, Marc Pullen and Davina 
Sarac

Also present: 

Councillors Paul Harrison and John Walsh

136 Declarations of disclosable pecuniary interest 

None.

137 Minutes of the previous meeting 

RESOLVED: to approve the minutes of the meeting held on 28 September, 19 
October and 2 November as correct records and agree that the Chairman sign them 
as such.

138 Urgent items 

None.

139 Applications deferred or withdrawn 

None.

Public Document Pack

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



2

140 Proposals for site visit reports 

None.

141 P16/S1850/FUL - Hawkhill Place, Stanton St John 

The committee considered application, to P16/S1850/FUL to demolish the existing 
two-storey dwelling and integrated garages and erect a new two storey dwelling at 
Hawkhill Place, Stanton St John.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history 
were detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this 
meeting.

Officer update: two further letters of objection have been received, reiterating 
concerns which had already been raised.

David Polgreen and Andrew Clark, representatives of Stanton St John parish council, 
spoke objecting to the application. Their concerns included the following:

 The grand, large-scale design is inappropriate for the area;
 The materials do not fit in with the local vernacular;
 The design does not enhance the greenbelt; and
 The volume allowed is inappropriate.

Tim Knowles, a local resident, spoke objecting to the application. His concerns 
included the following:

 The visual impact of the design will be harmful to the greenbelt;
 The materials are not appropriate;
 The style is alien to the area and will be highly visible from the road;
 The current building is not ‘sprawling’ but a farmstead, parts of which date 

back to the 19th Century;
 Shepherds Pit and Hawkhill Place currently work well together;
 Does not agree with the technical calculations of projected volumes which 

would need to be increased as the current building contains garages;
 The design and access statement is misleading in its relative heights of the 

two buildings; and
 A request for a site visit.

Anthony Hayes and Kenny Peters, the applicant’s agents, spoke in support of the 
application:

 In comparison to the existing building, the new design is not considerably 
larger;

 The site sits in a dipped valley, the only view of it being from a narrow vista to 
the North;

 The access road will be in a dip and no different from the current access;
 The purpose of the design is to sit within the same footprint;
 The applicant has no intention of building a garage; and
 It is not an area where design is constrained.

John Walsh, the local ward member, spoke objecting to the application. His concerns 
included the following:

Page 6



3

 Disagrees with volume calculations being less than the recommended 10% 
increase within the greenbelt due to the inclusion of garages in the current 
building; and

 It is misleading to say that the new design would not have an impact.

In response, the officer stated that both garages/car port are attached and could be 
converted without planning permission, which is why they have been included in the 
volume calculation. The property also has unused permitted development rights, 
which could see it extended, thus increasing the potential volume in its current state. 
Any future additional outbuildings would require planning permission.

The committee considered the application, with advice from officers where 
appropriate.

A motion, moved and seconded, to approve the application was declared carried on 
being put to the vote.

RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P16/S1850/FUL, subject to 
the following conditions:

1. Commencement three years – full planning permission.
2. Approved plans.
3. Withdrawal of permitted development rights (Part 1 Class A) – no extensions 

etc.
4. Withdrawal of permitted development rights (Part 1 Class E) - no buildings etc.
5. Sample materials required (walls and roof).

142 P16/S2045/FUL - 1 Sandy Lane, Cholsey 

The committee considered application, to P16/S2045/FUL for the erection of a new 
detached dwelling at 1 Sandy Lane, Cholsey.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history 
were detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this 
meeting.

Alan Taylor, a local resident, spoke objecting to the application. His concerns 
included the following:

 Whilst sympathetic to the new design and grateful to the applicants for it being 
more in keeping with the street scene, Mr Taylor is concerned about the 
sustainability of the land on which the proposed building will be constructed;

 No-one knows where the decommissioned underground oil tank is;
 Concern for the impact on his property and garden; and
 Concerned that the conditions to remove the oil tank will not be done 

satisfactorily and in a safe manner.

Oliver Margison and John Saulet, the applicant’s agent and solicitor, spoke in support 
of the application:

 Do not understand the parish council’s objection to the proposal due to the 
loss of open space; and

 The safe removal of the oil tank is an established and enforceable planning 
condition.

Page 7



4

The committee considered the application, with advice from officers where 
appropriate.

A motion, moved and seconded, to approve the application was declared carried on 
being put to the vote.

RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P16/S2045/FUL, subject to 
the following conditions:

1. Commencement three years - full planning permission.
2. Approved plans.
3. Schedule of materials.
4. Parking and manoeuvring areas retained.
5. No surface water drainage to highway.
6. No garage conversion into accommodation.
7. Contamination (preliminary risk assessment).
8. Withdrawal of permitted development rights.

143 P16/S2638/FUL - Land to the rear of 14 and 16 High Street, 
Watlington 

The committee considered application P16/S2638/FUL to erect a two-storey three-
bedroom dwelling following the demolition of the existing brick walls and timber 
fencing within the site on land to the rear of 14 and 16 High Street, Watlington.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history 
were detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this 
meeting.

Tim Bindoff, a representative of Watlington parish council, spoke objecting to the 
application. His concerns included the following:

 Harm to the conservation area;
 Will close a gap in the street scene, which will be lost forever;
 The effect of intensified use of the existing substandard access will be an 

increased risk to pedestrians;
 The parking is insufficient and turning area not acceptable;
 No provision is made for the neighbouring empty bank being turned into 

residential unit/s;
 Access to public transport is not good in Watlington; and
 Using public car parks as overflow is not sustainable as provision is limited.

Paul Butt, the applicant’s agent, spoke in support of the application. His speech 
included the following:

 The proposed design has been informed by the conservation officer and is 
visually attractive;

 A new small dwelling will be welcome in a central, underused location;
 The highways liaison officer has not objected to the number of car parking 

spaces but to the intensification of use of the access, which the applicant and 
officers disagree with – the provision of formal spaces and turning area will be 
an improvement.

Page 8



5

The committee considered the application, with advice from officers where 
appropriate.

A motion, moved and seconded, to approve the application was declared carried on 
being put to the vote.

RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P16/S2638/FUL, subject to 
the following conditions:

1. Commencement of development within three years.
2. Development to proceed in accordance with approved plans.
3. Details of levels prior to commencement.
4. Schedule of materials prior to commencement.
5. Obscure glazing of south-west facing first floor windows.
6. No additional openings in south-west facing first floor elevation.
7. Withdrawal of permitted development rights for extensions and outbuildings.
8. Details of refuse and recycling collection point prior to commencement.
9. Allocated parking and manoeuvring areas retained as shown on plan.
10.Details of cycle parking facilities prior to commencement.
11.Details of signage prior to commencement.
12.Details of hard and soft landscaping prior to commencement.

144 P16/S1140/FUL - Longwood, Maidensgrove 

The committee considered application P16/S1140/FUL to demolish the existing 
dwelling and associated structures and to erect three detached dwellings and 
detached garages with separate access arrangements at Longwood, Maidensgrove.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history 
were detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this 
meeting.

Officer update: there are two additional conditions to include in the recommendation 
on the submission of a Construction Environmental Management Plan for Biodiversity 
and to restrict external lighting to the rear elevations to protect wildlife in the nearby 
ancient woodland; as a result, the Woodland Trust have withdrawn their objection.

Tom Bolt, a representative of Pishill with Stonor parish council and a local resident, 
spoke objecting to the application. His concerns included the following:

 The impact on his Grade II listed property opposite the proposed development;
 The size, bulk and massing are out of keeping;
 Maidensgrove is a small hamlet in open countryside and therefore cannot 

support infill development, falling outside of planning policy CSR1;
 Overdevelopment of the site;
 By moving the development away from the ancient woodland, it is now closer 

and will therefore harmfully impact the private un-adopted lane and public 
footpath, which is currently maintained by residents; and

 Flooding could be an issue.

The committee considered the application, with advice from officers where 
appropriate; whilst sympathetic to the concerns raised by Mr Bolt, some committee 
members did not feel that the change of use would be detrimental to the area and 
that the extensive conditions would be sufficient in minimising the impact. However, 

Page 9



6

some committee members felt that they could not easily make a judgement on the 
impact of the development without seeing the site.

A motion, moved and seconded, to approve the application was withdrawn and a 
deferral to allow for a site visit was passed when put to the vote.

RESOLVED: to defer consideration of application P16/S1140/FUL, to allow for a site 
visit to take place.

145 P16/S2923/FUL - Daisy's at the Dog, Peppard Common 

David Nimmo-Smith, one of the local ward councillors, stepped down from the 
committee and took no part in the debate or voting on this item.

The committee considered application P16/S2923/FUL to convert the existing coffee 
shop into a new dwelling at Daisy's at the Dog, Peppard Common.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history 
were detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this 
meeting.

Fiona Berry, a representative of Rotherfield Peppard parish council, spoke objecting 
to the application. Her concerns included the following:

 The parish council welcome the Dog being brought back into use as a 
residential dwelling yet have concerns about the loss of part of the brick and 
flint wall to allow for vehicular access. The wall enhances the historic 
environment and therefore they suggest that the access is changed to Dog 
Lane.

Ian Heriot, a local resident, spoke objecting to the application. His concerns included 
the following:

 Strong reservation of the safety of the parking and egress coming out on to a 
busy crossroads;

 The primary school is due to be relocated to a plot to the North of the site 
which would increase the danger of cars reversing out onto the road; and

 Request the access is moved to Dog Lane to minimise danger.

Keith Neill-Smith, the applicant’s agent, spoke in support of the application:
 The proposal would enhance the conservation area by removing unsightly 

lean-tos and additions and conserving the historic parts of the building;
 The applicant considered the access on to Dog Lane yet felt on balance it 

would not be favourable due to the narrow access, loss of trees and the 
parking being closer to the neighbouring property; and

 The conservation officer has no objection.

David Nimmo-Smith, one of the local ward members, spoke objecting to the 
application. His concerns included the following:

 No objection to the principle of development;
 Concern for the loss of part of the brick and flint wall; and
 When the school is built, there will be too many direct accesses on to this very 

busy corner.

Page 10



7

The committee considered the application, with advice from officers where 
appropriate. Committee members did not agree that the proposed access would be 
the best option for the development and requested a deferral to allow for negotiations 
to take place with the applicant.

A motion, moved and seconded, to defer the application was declared carried on 
being put to the vote.

RESOLVED: to defer consideration of application P16/S2923/FUL subject to further 
negotiations with the applicant with regard to the access.

146 P16/S2646/FUL - 2 Baskerville Road, Sonning Common 

The committee considered application P16/S2646/FUL to erect a detached two-
storey 4-bedroom dwelling with integral garage and formation of vehicular access at 
2 Baskerville Road, Sonning Common.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history 
were detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this 
meeting.

Carole Lewis, a representative of Sonning Common parish council, spoke objecting 
to the application. Her concerns included the following:

 This site is not allocated in the Sonning Common neighbourhood plan, which 
was formally adopted in October;

 The size, height, density and mass would result in an overdevelopment of the 
site;

 The proposed development would be harmful to the amenity of the 
neighbours;

 The planning inspector who approved the neighbourhood plan warned of 
inappropriate backland development; and

 Parking and traffic concerns due to the site being close to a busy crossroads.

Helen Gavin and Ros Varnes, local residents, spoke objecting to the application. 
Their concerns included the following:

 The road is rural, not suburban as per the officer’s report;
 The frontage of the proposed development would be a lot smaller in relation to 

surrounding properties;
 The design does not fit in with the street scene;
 The proposal will adversely impact the privacy of the neighbours;
 Would like to seek assurances that the back to back distances within the 

report are correct;
 Traffic generation and parking would have a harmful impact on pedestrian and 

highway safety; and
 There is no suitable parking for delivery vehicles.

Paul Harrison, one of the local ward members, spoke objecting to the application. His 
concerns included the following:

 The proposed development is too bulky and out of character;
 It is an overdevelopment of the site;
 Only two parking spaces for a four-bedroom house is insufficient; and
 It is close to a junction and would therefore compromise road safety.

Page 11



8

The committee considered the application, with advice from officers where 
appropriate. Although advised that the Sonning Common neighbourhood plan 
allowed for infill development, the committee were concerned with the size and scale 
of the proposed dwelling not being in keeping with the street scene and the impact on 
the neighbours’ amenity.

A motion, moved and seconded, to refuse the application was declared carried on 
being put to the vote.

RESOLVED: to refuse planning permission for application P16/S2646/FUL due to the 
following reasons:

1. Due to the scale, bulk, height and design the proposal represents a 
development that is considered to be out of keeping with the character and 
appearance of the surrounding area and therefore contrary to policy CSQ3 of 
the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy, the saved policies G2, H4 and D1 of the 
South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 and policies H3, D1, D1a and D1b of the 
Sonning Common Neighbourhood Development Plan.

2. Due to its position within the plot the proposal would be overbearing and an 
unneighbourly form of development that is contrary to policy the saved policies 
H4 and D1 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 and policy H3 of the 
Sonning Common Neighbourhood Development Plan.

The meeting closed at 8.20 pm

Chairman Date

Page 12



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 14 December 2016

APPLICATION NO. P16/S1140/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 11.4.2016
PARISH Pishill
WARD MEMBER Anna Badcock
APPLICANT Everport Developments Ltd
SITE Longwood, Maidensgrove, RG9 6HA
PROPOSAL Proposed demolition of existing dwelling house and 

associated structures and the erection of three 
detached dwellings and detached garages with 
separate access arrangements. (As amended by 
plans received 24_08_2016 to reduce bulk, massing 
and appearance of dwellings).

AMENDMENTS Yes
GRID REFERENCE 472384/188838
OFFICER Marc Pullen

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 This application is referred to the Planning Committee because the officer’s

recommendation conflicts with the view of the Parish Council. This application was 
deferred from the 23 November Planning Committee meeting for a visit to the site, 
which took place on 12 December.

1.2 Longwood is a bungalow which falls within a spacious site. It is part of a residential 
area accessed via a no through road, which extends out from the heart of the 
Maidensgrove settlement and is considered to fall within the settlement limits. 

1.3 The site (which is shown on the OS extract attached as Appendix A) lies within the 
Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB). To the rear of the site is 
Pishillbury Woods which are designated as an ancient woodland. 

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 This application seeks full planning permission for the erection of three detached two 

storey dwellings on site, following the demolition of the existing bungalow. The 
dwellings would be served by individual accesses, two of which would be new.  

2.2 A copy of all the current plans accompanying the application is attached as Appendix 
B. Other documentation associated with the application can be viewed on the council’s 
website, www.southoxon.gov.uk.

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Pishill with Stonor Parish Council – Object

 Three dwellings would be an overdevelopment of the plot


Forestry Officer (South Oxfordshire District Council) - No strong views, subject to 
condition

Highways Liaison Officer (Oxfordshire County Council) - No strong views, subject to 
condition

Countryside Officer (South Oxfordshire & Vale of White Horse) - No strong views, 

Page 13

Agenda Item 7

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S1140/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 14 December 2016

subject to informative 

Woodland Trust – Object based on close proximity to ancient woodland

Countryside Access - No strong views, subject to informative

Waste Management Officer (District Council) - No strong views
 
Neighbours - Object (7)

 New access, in close proximity to existing neighbours accesses could cause 
potentially hazardous situations for vehicles accessing/leaving their properties

 The track serving the new development ‘will not cope’ with the additional traffic – 
the track is maintained by the residents and has recently undergone 
improvement works. New properties would increase the ‘wear and tear’ of the 
track – increasing maintenance costs – the financial implications of the 
maintenance of the track is not a material planning consideration 

 The track would have to cope with additional deliveries (gas, waste, food etc.) 
and is prone to flood – causing problems with new owners

 No transport, no shops, no gas, no street lights and internet access 
 Little parking, which cannot support the residents and visitors 
 No room for street parking
 Impact on the navigation and movement of wildlife 
 Development is excessive for this plot
 Impact on the character of the AONB
 Uniformity of garden sizes is not in keeping with the surrounding area
 Properties proposed at not in keeping with the layout of houses in the 

surrounding area
 Views spoilt for neighbours – this is not a material planning consideration 
 Gardens across the road and the front aspect of adjacent neighbours would be 

overlooked – loss of privacy
 An increase in noise (both by new residents and construction process)
 Minimal screening and privacy protection of the new inhabitants caused by 

hedging
 An increased height of building(s) on site would provide views across the road, 

to the detriment of neighbours
 The loss of trees previously will open up views across to neighbours and 

increase harm 
 The concern of setting a precedent 
 No demand for these houses in this location

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P15/S1300/HH - Approved (19/06/2015)

Erection of two storey front and side extensions and raise the roof to facilitate first floor 
accommodation.  Erection of a single storey extension to the garage.

P82/S0277/O - Refused (22/07/1982) - Refused on appeal (07/12/1982)
ERECTION OF ONE DETACHED BUNGALOW AND GARAGE.

P61/H0290 - Approved (24/05/1961)
Erection of one detached dwelling house with garages and widening of existing access

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 National Planning Policy Framework & National Planning Practice Guidance

Page 14

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P15/S1300/HH
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P82/S0277/O
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P61/H0290


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 14 December 2016

5.2 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) 2012 policies; 
CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSB1  -  Conservation and improvement of biodiversity
CSEN1  -  Landscape protection
CSQ3  -  Design
CSR1  -  Housing in villages
CSS1  -  The Overall Strategy

5.3 South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP) 2011 policies; 
C4  -  Landscape setting of settlements
C8  -  Adverse affect on protected species
C9  -  Loss of landscape features
D1  -  Principles of good design
D2  -  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3  -  Outdoor amenity area
D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
D10  -  Waste Management
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
H4  -  Housing sites in towns and larger villages outside Green Belt
R8  -  Protection of existing public right of way
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

5.4 South Oxfordshire Design Guide (SODG) 2016

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1  Principle of development

 Impact on character and appearance of area
 Impact on the wider Chilterns AONB
 Impact on neighbour amenity
 Impact on highway 
 Impact on ecology and trees 
 Other matters

Principle of development
6.2 The site lies within Maidensgrove and in this location the principle of residential 

development on the site is largely governed by Policy CSR1 of the South Oxfordshire 
Core Strategy (SOCS), which allows new housing on suitable infill sites, on sites 
approximately 0.1 hectares in size. The SOCS defines infill as the filling of a small gap 
in an otherwise built up frontage or on other sites within settlements where the site is 
closely surrounded by buildings. This site is within a cluster of other residential 
dwellings and in my view, it is reasonable to conclude that the site is within the confines 
of the village of Maidensgrove. The site measures around 0.4ha and so it would be 
above the usual threshold of 0.1ha in ‘other villages’. 

6.3 In order to strictly comply with the 0.1ha limit, the application should replace the existing 
dwelling within the plot and then come back with two further applications for new 
dwellings either side within the site area threshold. This would be a contrived and 
drawn out way of achieving a desired development that could come forward under one 
application.  In officer’s opinion it would be a more pragmatic approach to apply for this 
development under a single planning application therefore. 

6.4 In light of the above assessment officers consider it reasonable to agree that this 
development represents infill development within the settlement as it would fill a gap in 

Page 15



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 14 December 2016

the settlement and would, when completed, be closely surrounded by neighbouring 
built form. It is therefore necessary to assess the implications of the development 
having regard to Policy H4 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP). 

Impact on character and appearance 
6.5 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) confirms a presumption in favour of 

sustainable residential development, but also confirms a requirement for good design. 
The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) elaborates on the NPPF, stating that: 
“new development should look to respond appropriately to the existing layout of 
buildings, streets and spaces…there may be an existing prevailing layout that 
development should respond to and potentially improve” (Para 24).

6.6 The village is rural in character owing to its designation within the Chilterns AONB and 
is relatively linear in plan form, within a loose knit structure.  To the rear of the site is an 
ancient woodland, Pishillbury Woods.  The properties in the vicinity of the site vary in 
architectural merit and vernacular quality and in the wider settlement the properties vary 
in size with a variety of plot sizes and property heights and overall the surrounding built 
form contributes to the spacious and rural character of the area.  The property to the 
north, Barns Cottage, is Grade II listed and dates back to the early C17. 

6.7 The proposed dwellings would keep to the linear form of built form in this part of the 
village and would have relatively spacious rear gardens and front gardens and 
driveways. Whilst this development would introduce two additional dwellings on this 
plot, the design and layout of the scheme does, in officer’s view, successfully ensure 
that the individual properties respect the spacious character of the area by providing 
good spacing and large plot sizes. This, in officer’s view, would help conserve the rural 
character of the village. The density of the development proposed would respect the 
density of the surrounding built form.  

6.8 The appearance of the dwellings vary and attempts to respect the varied architectural 
character of the immediate area and the overall village. Officers consider the 
appearance of the dwellings are acceptable and that the use of architectural features 
and traditional materials would be sympathetic to the surrounding area and the wider 
Chilterns AONB. The heights of the dwellings are similar to each other but owing to the 
topography of the site would allow for a gentle slope of the development from west to 
east. In addition to this, due to the set-back position of the dwellings they would be on a 
lower ground level than the unadopted highway, reducing the overall visual impact of 
the development from views outside of the site. Whilst it is appreciated that the existing 
property is shallow in height and offers no immediate view from the public realm, it is 
considered that views of built form on the site would not materially harm the character 
of the site or the surrounding area. This area is residential in use and there are a 
number of other properties, due to their siting and positioning along the unadopted 
highway, which are considerably more prominent in the immediate area. 

6.9 A number of trees will need to be removed to accommodate the development and a 
number of trees have previously been removed prior to this application. However it is 
officer’s view that the rural and sylvan character and appearance of the area would not 
be materially harmed by this development as views towards the woodland to the rear of 
the site would still be obtainable and trees on site are proposed to be retained, as well 
as the ‘green’ boundary treatments. 

Impact on the Chilterns AONB 
6.10 As the site lies within the Chilterns AONB, the development falls to be considered by 

Page 16



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 14 December 2016

Policy CSEN1 of the SOCS and national guidance set out within section 11 of the 
NPPF. The NPPF stipulates that great weight should be given to the conservation of 
the landscape and scenic beauty of the AONB (para 115). Policy CSEN1 seeks to 
protect the district’s distinctive landscape character and key features from any 
inappropriate development. High priority is given to the conservation and enhancement 
of the Chilterns AONB. In addition the development would need to be assessed against 
Policy C4 of the SOLP which seeks to protect the attractive landscape settings of 
settlements.  

6.11 The South Oxfordshire Landscape Assessment (SOLA) identifies this area as falling 
within the Chilterns Ridges and Valleys. The site lies within a large area of wooded 
dipslope which is the dominant landscape type within this area. The general pattern of 
built form which is characteristic of this area is linear with a number of individual 
buildings, small hamlets and small villages. The scenic quality of the area is high with a 
strong sense of space. Visual sensitivity is low and this area has a moderate sensitivity 
to change. The management strategy for this area is to conserve. 

6.12 Officers consider that the development is well contained within the settlement limits and 
is bounded by other residential dwellings and ancient woodland to the rear. Views of 
the proposal would be minimal from within the immediate area and there are no far 
reaching views of the site from the wider Chilterns AONB.  Officers do not consider that 
this development would compromise or harm the landscape qualities of the AONB. It is 
officer’s view that the site makes a limited contribution to the intrinsic rural character of 
the area and owing to its enclosed nature does not contribute significantly to the overall 
visual and landscape quality of this part of the Chilterns AONB. Instead officers 
consider that the proposed development would be sympathetic to the area and would 
respect and conserve the character and landscape/scenic qualities of this area, which 
makes it worthy of its inclusion within the Chilterns AONB. The use of materials used in 
the construction of the dwellings would be conditioned to ensure that the development 
respects the local vernacular. 

Impact on neighbour amenity
6.13 The Council’s policies and guidance seek to ensure that new dwellings are considerate 

to neighbours by way of ensuring that the development does not intrude upon a 
neighbour’s privacy, does not overshadow, obstruct daylight or have an oppressive or 
overbearing impact, which would be harmful to the amenity of occupiers living in 
neighbouring properties. 

6.14 A number of neighbours have objected to this planning application. Neighbours have 
raised concern that their views would be harmed by the proposed increase in built form 
on the site. A loss of a private view is not a material planning consideration however, 
and therefore the impact upon neighbours should not be determined taking into account 
this concern. Despite this, and subject to details agreed by condition, officers do not 
consider the views of the surrounding landscape and the views to the frontage of the 
site would be materially harmed by the development of this site. 

6.15 Concerns have been raised regarding the increased height of dwellings on this site and 
the potential impact caused on neighbours privacy and that the potential loss of 
vegetation on site and to the front of the site would harm amenity. Officers note that no 
side facing windows are proposed which would overlook those neighbours to the north-
east or south-west. 

6.16 The distances between the frontage of the proposed properties and those properties 
adjacent to the site, Barns Cottage, its annexe and Chestnut Cottage, exceed 30 
metres which would sufficiently safeguard the privacy of those neighbours. The advised 

Page 17



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 14 December 2016

distance between the frontages of two dwellings within the South Oxfordshire Design 
Guide (SODG) is 10 metres. The level of overlooking would not be untypical of an area 
of residential built form such as this and due to the existing vegetation on site these 
views would be somewhat screened and would only provide oblique views towards 
neighbours’ gardens when vegetation thins. Owing to the siting of the proposed 
dwellings no direct views into neighbours habitable rooms/windows would be possible. 
All side facing windows proposed on the three dwellings would serve bathrooms – a 
condition is recommended to ensure these are obscure glazed or fixed shut below 1.7 
metres internally. 

6.17 One neighbour has raised a concern regarding the noise caused by the additional 
residents along the road and during the construction process. Officers do not consider 
however that the additional noise caused by new residents should be considered as a 
reasonable reason to refuse this development. Within an area such as this where 
dwellings are closely located to each other it is considered reasonable to expect some 
level of noise to arise by residents using their homes and whilst enjoying their private 
gardens. The construction noise would be temporary. 

6.18 The siting of the proposed dwellings in relation to neighbouring properties would allow 
for sufficient spacing with neighbouring Park Gate and Fallow Woods and would keep 
to the linear form along the road. Officers do not consider the development would be 
overbearing to these neighbours and would not result in any adverse loss of light. It is 
noted that a section of hedging between Park Gate and plot 1 would be removed. 
However it is intended to replace this and this can be controlled by the attached 
landscaping condition. 

6.19 A further concern was raised by the adjacent neighbour, siting harm to their listed 
building(s). Officers consider that the re-development of the land does not erode the 
special interest of the listed buildings. Whilst the site is in the immediate setting of the 
listed building; its special interest as a C17 timber frame building would not be harmed. 
The annexe building would be considered curtilage listed and it makes a contribution to 
the special interest of the main listed building. There will be some visual alteration to 
the character of the application site, however this is not considered to harm the special 
interest of the listed building or its wider curtilage. When viewed from the public realm, 
the listed buildings and proposed new dwellings are not likely to be read in conjunction 
with each other. Regardless, it is not considered that these new dwellings would cause 
any diminution of the historic interest and value of these buildings. 

Impact on highway 
6.20 The council’s policies and guidance seek to ensure that in determining planning 

applications, the council should, in consultation with the local highway authority, ensure 
that new developments are designed to a standard that ensures a safe and attractive 
environment and does not result in an unacceptable level of traffic on the local highway 
network or have a detrimental impact on the amenities and environment of the area. 

6.21 The local highway authority has raised no objection to this application, subject to 
conditions requiring details of the visibility splays to the new accesses, details of the 
turning and parking areas within each plot and the submission of a construction traffic 
management plan to mitigate the impact of construction vehicles on the surrounding 
highway network, road infrastructure and local residents. Other conditions seek for the 
new vehicle accesses to be constructed and laid out in accordance with the local 
highway authority’s specifications, a restriction on the conversion of the proposed 
garages and a specification that requires all new gates to be set back from the 
carriageway by at least 5m to ensure the road is not obstructed whilst cars wait to enter 
the site. 

Page 18



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 14 December 2016

Impact on ecology and trees
6.22 In consultation with both the forestry and countryside officer no objection has been 

raised having regard to the impact on landscape quality and features and protected 
species. 

6.23 The existing structure is in a good condition with few obvious access to the roof void or 
opportunities for crevice dwelling bat species. The site exists within close proximity to 
Pishillbury Wood, a fragment of ancient woodland which most likely supports a healthy 
population of bats. The council’s countryside officer has no objection to the proposed 
development, following an amendment which moved the dwelling in plot 3 further away 
from the woodland. An informative would be attached to the decision notice if granted 
planning permission to bring attention to the applicant/developer to have regard to the 
requirements of UK and European legislation related to the protection of certain wild 
plants and animals. Approval under that legislation will be required and a licence may 
be necessary if bats are affected by the development. 

6.24 The trees within this site are not protected by a tree preservation order and the site is 
not located within a conservation area. The applicant has submitted an Arboricultural 
and Planning Integration Report and Tree Protection Plan. The forestry officer raises no 
objections to the proposed development subject to the decision notice making specific 
reference for the need to implement tree protection as set out in the submitted 
Arboricultural and Planning Integration Report and Tree Protection Plan. A landscape 
condition is also recommended to ensure that the development is assimilated into the 
rural character of the area and soft and hard landscaping details of the development 
can be controlled by the council to avoid any inappropriate forms of landscaping that 
could lead to harm on the rural character of the site or the Chilterns AONB. 

6.25 It is noted that to the rear of the site is the Pishillbury Wood which is classified as an 
ancient woodland. The Woodlands Trust has raised a concern to the proposed 
development citing the potential impact on the ancient woodland. They are concerned 
that the development could damage the ancient woodland and the adjacent habitat 
both by construction processes and by the resultant dwellings on site. Following 
amendments to the scheme and the attached conditions, the Countryside Officer and 
Forestry Officer do not object to the development, having regard to the proximity to the 
ancient woodland. The landscaping scheme will help to secure a small amount of 
understory woodland edge planting within the gardens along the southern boundary. 
This will improve the woodlands edge structure, species such as hazel, holly, hawthorn, 
yew etc. are likely to be appropriate. In addition the removal of permitted development 
rights will allow for the council to control the erection of future extensions and 
outbuildings in conjunction with this woodland. 

6.26 Additional conditions are recommended which require details to be submitted for 
surface water drainage and foul drainage works. Informatives are attached which 
provides advice to safeguard the public footpath which runs adjacent to this site and to 
advise the developers of further action needed should protected wildlife be affected by 
the development. 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
6.27 The council’s CIL charging schedule has recently been adopted and will apply to 

relevant proposals from 1 April 2016. CIL is a planning charge that local authorities can 
implement to help deliver infrastructure and to support the development of their area, 
and is primarily calculated on the increase in footprint created as a result of the 
development. In this case CIL is liable for the new dwellings and is charged on floor 
area, offset with the loss of the existing building. The CIL charge applied to new 

Page 19



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 14 December 2016

residential development in this case is £150 per square metre of floorspace (Zone 1). 
15% of the CIL payment will go directly to the parish council (as they do not have an 
adopted Neighbourhood Plan) for spending towards local projects. 

7.0 CONCLUSION
The proposal complies with the relevant Development Plan Policies and, subject to the 
attached conditions would not be harmful to the character and appearance of the site 
and surrounding area, the local highway network or the amenities of those occupants 
living in neighbouring properties.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 To grant planning permission subject to the following conditions: 

1. Full planning permission – development to commence within three years 
of date of permission.

2. Development to be carried out in accordance with approved plans. 
3. A schedule of all materials to be used in the external construction and 

finishes of the development hereby permitted shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority (LPA).

4. Tree protection in accordance with the submitted details.
5. Hard and soft landscaping scheme to be submitted to and approved in 

writing by the LPA. 
6. Details of existing and proposed levels to be submitted to and approved in 

writing by the LPA. 
7. Vision splay details to be submitted to and approved in writing by the 

LPA. 
8. New vehicular access to be formed, laid out and constructed in 

accordance with local highway authority specifications.
9. Parking and manoeuvring areas to be implemented in accordance with 

plans and retained for their use. 
10. All gates to be set back at least 5 metres from the carriageway.
11. No conversion of garage accommodation.
12. Construction management plan to be submitted to and approved in writing 

by the LPA. 
13. Withdrawal of permitted development rights for extensions and 

outbuildings.
14. Obscure glazing to first floor side facing windows.
15. Details of foul and surface drainage to be submitted to and approved in 

writing by the LPA.

Author: Marc Pullen
Contact No: 01235 422600
Email: planning@southoxon.gov.uk 

Page 20

mailto:planning@southoxon.gov.uk


Appendix A

Page 21

Agenda Item 7

PullenM
Rectangle



Appendix B

P
age 22



P
age 23



P
age 24

PullenM_1
Polyline



P
age 25

PullenM_2
Polyline



P
age 26

PullenM_3
Polyline



P
age 27



T
his page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 14 December 2016

APPLICATION NO. P16/S2459/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 21.7.2016
PARISH Henley-on-Thames
WARD MEMBERS Joan Bland

Lorraine Hillier
Stefan Gawrysiak

APPLICANT Tracy Puttock
SITE 116-118 Greys Road, Henley-on-Thames, RG9 

1QW
PROPOSAL Full planning application for residential development 

comprising 17 residential units, together with 
associated access, car parking, cycle storage, 
landscaping and drainage, following the demolition 
of all existing buildings 

AMENDMENTS As amended by plans and documents 
accompanying Agents letter dated 17 October 2016 
plus updated ecological appraisal received 08/08/16.

OFFICER Emma Bowerman

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 This application is referred to the Planning Committee as the officer’s 

recommendation conflicts with the views of the Town Council.  The application was 
deferred from the previous meeting for planning committee members to review the 
applicant’s viability appraisal and the independent review of the appraisal that was 
carried out on behalf of the council.  

1.2 The application site (which is shown on the OS extract attached as Appendix A) is 
within the built-up limits of Henley-on-Thames and is occupied by two commercial 
buildings and a single dwelling.  The buildings on site were part of the former 
Coldharbour Farm, which reflects the agricultural past of the area prior to the urban 
expansion of Henley in the mid twentieth century.  
 

1.3 The larger building on site (no.118) appears to have originally been a threshing barn 
but is barely recognisable as such, owing to the many alterations and additions that 
have taken place over the years.  This building is occupied by a textile company and 
also a publishing company.  The smaller former agricultural building to the south west 
of the site is a physiotherapy clinic.  No.119 is in residential use and was probably 
originally a cottage associated with the former Coldharbour Farm.  

1.4 The immediate surroundings of the site are predominantly residential in character, 
with the exception of the small neighbourhood centre adjoining the site, on the corner 
of King James Way and Greys Road.  Sherwood Gardens, to the east of the site, is a 
1980s purpose built complex of sheltered retirement bungalows. 

1.5 There are two separate accesses to the site from both King James Way and Greys 
Road.  The site is not within any designated area but is within the Joint Henley and 
Harpsden Neighbourhood Plan area, where there is a made Neighbourhood Plan.  

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 The application seeks full planning permission for residential development, following the 

Page 29

Agenda Item 8

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S2459/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 14 December 2016

demolition of all existing buildings on site.  One vehicular access would serve the site 
from King James Way.  The application proposes 17 residential units in a development 
of houses and flats with the following mix:

Market Affordable TOTAL
I bed 0 2 2
2 bed 1 3 4
3 bed 7 0 7

3/4 bed 4 0 4
TOTAL 12 5 17

2.2 The development would be partly two storey and partly two and a half storey, with the 
second floor accommodation contained within the roof area and served by dormer 
windows.  The proposed materials would be traditional, incorporating brick and flint, 
timber boarding and red tiled roofs.  The highest building height is 10m.  

2.3 The application was amended during the application process following concerns that 
were raised by consultees regarding design and impact on neighbouring amenity.  The 
original plans had rear gardens backing onto Greys Road and the amendments re-
oriented these properties to face the street frontage.  The flats were amended to allow 
for the provision of some outdoor amenity space and the design improved.  The 
amendments also included moving plot six further from the boundary with Sherwood 
Gardens and a reduction in the height of this unit.  

2.4 The application plans are attached as Appendix B.  The application is accompanied by 
a number of supporting documents, including a Design and Access Statement and 
Planning Statement.  These are available to view on the council’s website at 
www.southoxon.gov.uk.  The application was also accompanied by a confidential 
viability statement.  

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Henley-on-Thames Town Council 

Original plans 
Objected due to non-compliance with Neighbourhood Plan, overlooking and 
overdevelopment.  Raised concern regarding pavement width.  

Amended plans
Object due to non-compliance with Neighbourhood Plan with regard to the provision of 
affordable housing.  

3.2 Henley Society 
Object on the basis that the application does not comply with the Neighbourhood Plan 
in relation to affordable housing.

3.3 Oxfordshire County Council Highways 
Original plans
Objected as further details were required with regard to a bin collection point, footway 
widths and details of adoption.  

Amended plans 
No objection subject to conditions requiring approval of access details and visibility 
splays, details of the widening of the footpath on Greys Road, provision and retention of 
parking, a Construction Method Statement, a Construction Traffic Management Plan 
and approval of a Travel Information Pack for future residents. 

Page 30

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 14 December 2016

3.4 Oxfordshire County Council Infrastructure 
No objection subject to funding from the Community Infrastructure Levy towards 
necessary mitigation of schools, library, day care, museum and waste management.  

3.5 Oxfordshire County Council as Fire Authority  
Requested a condition requiring the provision of fire hydrants.

3.6 Highways England 
No objection. 

3.7 Urban Design Officer 
Original plans
Objected on the basis that the proposal would create an inactive frontage with Greys 
Road, lack of amenity space for the flats and other design concerns.  

Amended plans
No objection subject to conditions to secure details of materials, surfacing, boundary 
treatments and landscaping

3.8 Conservation Officer 
No objection on heritage grounds.

3.9 Forestry Officer 
No objection subject to conditions to secure landscaping.

3.10 Countryside Officer 
No objection subject to a condition requiring the development to be implemented in 
accordance with the mitigation and enhancement recommendations within the 
submitted Ecological Appraisal.   

3.11 Leisure & Economic Development Officer 
Concerned about the loss of employment in the town, having had over 20 enquiries for 
industrial space in Henley in the past year.  However, notes that the site is allocated for 
housing in the Neighbourhood Plan.  

3.12 Contaminated Land Officer
No objection subject to a condition to requiring compliance with the submitted 
remediation strategy and submission of a validation report.  

3.13 Air Quality Officer
No objection subject to a condition requiring measures to mitigate the impact on air 
quality.  

3.14 Waste Management Officer 
No objection. 

3.15 Drainage Consultant (Monson) 
No objection subject to approval of details of foul and surface water drainage.  

3.16 Neighbour Representations  
Original plans 
Seven neighbouring properties submitted representations in objection to the original 
plans raising the following concerns:
- Overdevelopment

Page 31



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 14 December 2016

- Overbearing and intrusive development 
- Overlooking and loss of light 
- Noise and disturbance from future residents 
- Height not in keeping with surroundings - over intensification
- Loss of attractive buildings on site

One letter of support commenting that the flint frontage of the buildings on King James 
Way would be attractive.  Concern raised that the development could lead to an 
increase in parking on King James Way.  

Amended plans 
One neighbouring property submitted representations in objection to the amended 
plans raising the following concerns:
- Would dominate Greys Road – overbearing and too high
- Not in keeping with surrounding properties –  out of character with streetscape
- Lack of landscaping on Greys Road
- Impact on privacy and outlook - overlooking of properties on opposite side of Greys 

Road 
- Overdevelopment 

One neighbour wrote in to comment that the amendments are a great improvement on 
the previous plans and withdrew her previous objection. 

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 There are no previous applications that are directly relevant to this proposal.  

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

5.2 NPPF Planning Practice Guidance (PPG)

5.3 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) 2027
CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSB1  -  Conservation and improvement of biodiversity
CSC1  -  Delivery and contingency
CSEN3 – Historic environment 
CSH1  -  Amount and distribution of housing
CSH2  -  Housing density
CSH3  -  Affordable housing
CSH4  -  Meeting housing needs
CSI1  -  Infrastructure provision
CSM2  -  Transport Assessments and Travel Plans
CSQ3  -  Design
CSS1  -  The Overall Strategy
CSHEN1  -  The Strategy for Henley-on-hames

5.4 South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP) 2011 saved policies
C6  -  Maintain & enhance biodiversity
C8  -  Adverse affect on protected species
C9  -  Loss of landscape features
D1  -  Principles of good design
D10  -  Waste Management
D2  -  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3  -  Outdoor amenity area
D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers

Page 32



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 14 December 2016

D6  -  Community safety
E6  -  Loss of employment uses
EP1  -  Adverse affect on people and environment
EP2  -  Adverse affect by noise or vibration
EP4  -  Impact on water resources
EP6  -  Sustainable drainage
EP8  -  Contaminated land
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
G5  -  Best use of land/buildings in built up areas
H4  -  Housing sites in towns and larger villages outside Green Belt
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

5.5 Joint Henley and Harpsden Neighbourhood Development Plan (JHHNP) 2027
H1 – Allocate land for 500 new homes 
H2 – Design brief
H3 – Type and size of new housing 
T1 – Impact of development on the transport network 
EN1 – Biodiversity 
DQS1 – Local Character 
SP10 – 118 Greys Road (Site Z)

5.6 South Oxfordshire Design Guide (SODG) 2016

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The relevant planning considerations in the determination of this application are:

 The principle of the development.

 Matters of detail / technical issues, including:
- affordable housing and housing mix,
- design, layout and appearance, 
- neighbour amenity and amenity of future residents,
- highway safety and traffic impact,
- flood risk and surface / foul drainage,
- environmental matters (air quality, contamination and noise). 

 Infrastructure requirements, including:
- on-site infrastructure to be secured under a legal agreement,
- off-site contributions pooled under the Community Infrastructure Levy. 

6.2

The principle of the development 

The application site is an allocated site within the made Joint Henley Harpsden 
Neighbourhood Plan (JHHNP).  Policy SP10 of the JHHNP allocates the site for around 
13 residential dwellings.  This policy requires that the Design Brief prepared for the site 
demonstrates how the proposed development:

 Creates a positive frontage onto King James Way
 Responds to the rear of the retail parade along Greys Road, screening future 

residents amenity without prejudicing the operational retails; and
 Considers the conversion of the existing attractive buildings within the site which 

provide evidence of the previous agricultural use.  

6.3 Given that this is an allocated site, I have no objection to the loss of the business 

Page 33



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 14 December 2016

premises on the site.  The loss of employment premises on the site and the overall 
distribution of employment sites within Henley is a matter that was considered in the 
process of making the Neighbourhood Plan.  

6.4 Policy SP10 of the JHHNP allocates the site for ‘around 13 dwellings’ and this 
application proposes 17 dwellings.  The JHHNP states that the site area allocated for 
development is 0.2ha.  This measurement appears to be incorrect and the site area 
shown in the JHHNP is larger, at around 0.28ha.  

6.5 The site area submitted under this application also includes the existing dwelling at 
no.118 Greys Road and so takes the overall application site area up to 0.33ha.   The 
proposed dwellings are therefore over a larger site area than was anticipated in the 
JHHNP and as such, I consider it reasonable that the application proposes 17 
dwellings, as oppose to ‘around 13 dwellings.’  The most important matter to consider is 
the actual impact of the housing, which is addressed in the relevant sections of my 
report below, as are the other amenity and environmental requirements of policy SP10 
of the JHHNP that are outlined above.  
  

6.6 In addition to the compliance with policy SP10 of the JHHNP, the provision of housing 
on this site would also accord with the spatial strategy in the South Oxfordshire Core 
Strategy (SOCS), which seeks to focus new homes within sustainable locations.  I am 
therefore satisfied that the principle of the development is acceptable.  

6.7

Matters of detail / technical issues

Affordable housing and housing mix

Two of the primary objectives of the JHHNP relate to affordable housing.  The 
objectives include enabling the delivery of a suitable quantum of affordable housing 
(40%) and specific reference is made to helping meet the needs of those age and 
income groups who have difficulty finding homes in Henley.  Policy H3 of the JHHNP 
requires developments to contribute towards the specific housing needs of Henley.  

6.8 Although there is an aspiration that 40 percent affordable housing will be provided on 
all development sites, there does have to be some recognition that there may be sites 
where this would render the development uneconomic and prevent the delivery of any 
housing.  This is often the case on sites where there is a high existing use value.  This 
is a matter that is acknowledged in policy CSH3 of the SOCS, which states that 40 
percent affordable housing will be sought on all sites subject to the viability of provision 
on each site.  

6.9 The application was accompanied by a viability assessment which concluded that the 
balance of costs and values associated with bringing forward the site restricted the 
ability of the development to deliver any affordable housing.  Regardless of this 
position, the applicant took a commercial decision to offer the council five x one bed 
flats as starter homes.  

6.10 The viability appraisal was reviewed on behalf of the council by an independent 
consultant who concluded that the scheme could support a small surplus.  The 
independent consultant therefore recommended that the council may wish to implement 
a review mechanism which would provide an opportunity for a reassessment of the 
scheme in the future.  

Page 34



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 14 December 2016

6.11 Given the outcome of this process, the offer of five affordable homes is welcome and 
the applicant would forego a normal developer profit to provide this level of affordable 
housing.  Following negotiations between the council and the applicant, the affordable 
housing has been secured as two x one bedroom flats and three x two bedroom flats 
for shared ownership.  This would amount to an affordable housing provision of 29 
percent.  There is a need for shared ownership properties in Henley and the 
development would help towards meeting the needs of some groups who have difficulty 
finding homes in Henley.   

6.12 On the basis of the outcome of the viability process, I consider that the affordable 
provision is acceptable and would meet some localised need, as required under the 
JHHNP objectives.  The proposal would accord with policy CSH3 of the SOCS as 
although the level of affordable provision secured is below 40 percent, the level of 
provision is based on what can viably be provided.  

6.13 In terms of mix, the amended plans have secured a greater range of residential units, 
with the inclusion of both one and two bedroom flats.  A number of the properties would 
allow for flexible living space.  Some of the three bed homes have a small room on the 
first floor that could either be used as a study or child’s bedroom.  One of the two 
bedroom homes also shows a ground floor study / bedroom.  The provision of home 
offices encourages home working and contributes towards a sustainable way of living.  I 
consider that development would provide for an appropriate mix of homes to meet the 
needs of different groups in Henley, in accordance with the relevant policies on housing 
mix.    

6.14

Design, layout and appearance

Securing a high quality design is a key aspect of sustainable development and the 
importance of securing good design is a theme that runs through national, local and 
Neighbourhood Plan policies.  New development should create a sense of place, 
optimise the potential of the site to accommodate development, respond to local 
character and create a safe and accessible environment.

6.15 The applicant has considered the opportunities and constraints on the site and this has 
included an assessment of the existing attractive buildings which provide evidence of 
the previous agricultural use of the site.  The council’s conservation officer has 
considered this assessment and has concluded that, due to their age and surviving 
heritage interest, the existing buildings should be classed as ‘non-designated heritage 
assets.’  

6.16 Although it is preferable to retain and reuse historic buildings, their loss has to be 
weighed up against the benefits of the development.  In carrying out this balancing 
exercise, the council’s conservation officer is of the view that the benefits of providing 
17 homes outweighs the loss of these non-designated heritage assets.  I concur with 
this opinion and although it is regrettable that the buildings on site would be 
demolished, their loss would not result in any significant material planning harm.   

6.17 The amended plans have overcome the concerns raised by the council’s urban design 
officer.  The initial submission proposed rear gardens backing onto Greys Road, which 
would have created a negative interface with this main road and an inwards facing 
development.  The amendments have turned the houses so that they front Greys Road 
and create an active edge to street scene.  

6.18 The dwellings that face Greys Road would be two and a half storey, with dormer 
windows in the roof serving the second floor accommodation.  There are a wide range 
of building types in the local area and I consider that the design and scale of the 

Page 35



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 14 December 2016

proposed homes would be appropriate to the local context.  They would be set slightly 
further forward than the neighbouring fast-food unit but in my opinion would not be 
overly dominant or intrusive in the street scene.  This is because they would be angled 
slightly away from the road, and would be set further back than the existing building on 
site.  In addition, the buildings would be eaves fronted and so the highest part of the 
roof would be positioned further back within the site.  

6.19 The elevations facing King James Way have been carefully considered and are active 
elevations with numerous openings.  These elevations would be flint with brick quoins 
and would create a positive frontage onto King James Way.  The amended plans have 
secured a little more space between the development and King James Way to allow for 
some additional landscaping.  

6.20 In terms of the internal layout of the site, the use of a variety of surfacing materials 
would break up the hard standing.  The addition of some trees would soften the 
development and the long term management of the landscaping can be secured by 
condition.  At 52 dwellings per hectare, the development would represent an efficient 
use of land.  Each home would have a private or shared amenity space and a sufficient 
level of parking would be provided on site.  As such, I do not consider that the proposal 
would be an overdevelopment.  

6.21 In my opinion the scheme represents an appropriate response to the constraints of the 
site and its surroundings, with materials that would be suitable to its setting.  I am 
satisfied that the scale and design of the buildings would be appropriate to the context 
of the site and that the development would achieve an acceptable layout, generally 
meeting the design objectives of the NPPF and the development plan policies that seek 
to secure high quality developments.  

6.22

Neighbour amenity and amenity of future residents

The amended plans have moved the development further from the boundary with the 
sheltered retirement bungalows in Sherwood Gardens and have reduced the massing 
of the development close to these neighbouring properties.  In my opinion the amended 
plans have responded well to the concerns that were initially raised regarding 
neighbour amenity and would ensure that the development would have an acceptable 
impact on the residents of Sherwood Gardens in terms of light, outlook and privacy.  

6.23 The terraced development on plots 1 – 6 would be positioned some 10m from the 
boundary with the neighbour to the north at no.2 / 2a King James Way.  As the units 
would be to the south of these neighbours, there would be some impact on them in 
terms of light.  In my opinion this impact would not result in any significant harm that 
would have a material impact on the living conditions of the occupiers of these 
neighbouring properties.  The separation involved and relationship between the existing 
properties and the development would ensure that the proposal would also not result in 
any adverse overlooking or be unduly overbearing to these neighbours.  
 

6.24 The proposed flats on plots 13-17 would have windows that face towards the retail units 
to the south, which have flats above.  I note that this is similar to the existing situation 
and the number of opening proposed are limited, either providing small secondary 
widows or kitchen windows.  These windows would have an impact on the flats above 
the shop but given the existing situation, would not result in any significant harm that 
would require the windows to be obscure glazed.  

Page 36



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 14 December 2016

6.25 One of the neighbouring occupiers on the opposite side of Greys Road has raised 
concern that the development would have an adverse impact in terms of privacy and 
outlook.  The proposed development would be over 25m from the properties across the 
opposite side of Greys Road.  This separation would ensure that there would be no 
adverse overlooking from the proposed development and the proposal would not be 
oppressive or overbearing from the opposite side of the road.  

6.26 In my opinion the proposals would have an acceptable impact on neighbouring 
occupiers, in accordance with the above policies.  In terms of the amenity of future 
occupiers of the site, the future residents would all have the benefit of either a private or 
shared amenity space.  Some of the flats also have their own terraces.  The 
relationship of the development with the neighbourhood centre would also not result in 
any adverse harm to future occupiers.  In my opinion the development would create an 
appropriate living environment for future residents.  

6.27

Highway safety and traffic impact

The existing access onto Greys Road would be stopped up, with a single altered 
access provided from King James Way.  The County Council highways officer 
welcomes this arrangement, due to lower vehicle speeds and improved visibility on 
King James Way.  

6.28 The existing footway along the frontage of the site on the northern side of Greys Road 
in inadequate in width at only 1.2m.  The applicant proposes to widen it to a more 
appropriate 1.8m width.  The required widening can be wholly within the limits of the 
application site and would not compromise the existing width of Greys Road.  The 
County highways officer has requested a detailed plan of the footway widening to be 
secured by condition and any works to the public highway would require the approval of 
Oxfordshire County Council.  

6.29 The County highways officer is satisfied that an appropriate level of parking would be 
provided and that the cycle parking would be acceptable.  The highways officer has 
recommended a number of conditions relating to the access, retention of parking and 
construction traffic.  Subject to these conditions I consider that the development would 
be acceptable in terms of highway safety, in accordance with the requirements of the 
NPPF and the relevant development plan policies.  

6.30

Flood risk and surface / foul drainage

The application site is within Flood Zone 1 (least probability of flooding) and as such, 
there are no objections to the development in relation to flood risk.  

6.31 As is now standard practice, a detailed scheme for the site would need to incorporate a 
Sustainable Urban Drainage (SUDS) compliant strategy to ensure that all surface water 
run-off is accommodated within the confines of the site and discharged in a controlled 
manner.  As required by the council’s drainage consultant, the details of this can be 
secured by condition.  

6.32 With regards to foul drainage, there is infrastructure capacity to serve the development 
and details of foul drainage can be agreed through condition.  

6.33

Environmental matters (air quality, contamination and noise) 

Based on the size of the proposed development, basic good practice design should be 
applied to this site in order to help mitigate against the air quality impacts and the 

Page 37



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 14 December 2016

potential cumulative effects of piecemeal developments, and to enable future proofing 
of the development.  I have recommended a condition requiring air quality mitigation 
measures to be agreed.  Mitigation measures can include measures such as electric 
vehicle charging points.  

6.34 Our contaminated land officer has considered the details submitted with the application.  
The submitted report identifies elevated contamination and makes recommendations 
for remedial works.  I have recommended a condition to ensure that the remediation 
strategy outlined in the report is undertaken and that a validation report is submitted to 
confirm completion of the works.  

6.35 In order to ensure that construction activities are carried out within reasonable hours I 
have recommended a construction hours condition.  

6.36

Infrastructure requirements 

On-site infrastructure to be secured under a legal agreement

On-site infrastructure can be secured through a legal agreement under S106 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).  In this case, no public open 
space would be provided on site.  Given the scale of the development and the 
constraints of the site, I do not consider that it would be reasonable to require on site 
open space or a play area.  

6.37 In accordance with the council’s S106 Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning 
Document, the following additional financial contributions would be required towards 
on-site infrastructure:
- Street naming and numbering - £107.80
- Provision of recycle bins - £2,890
- Monitoring fee - £485.95

6.38 As required by the County highways officer, the following site specific highways 
contributions would also need to be secured under the S106:
- Public transport contribution - £17,000
- Bus stop shelter and infrastructure - £8,000

6.39 I consider that these contributions / obligations accord with policy CSI1 of the SOCS, 
which requires new development to be supported by appropriate on and off-site 
infrastructure and services.  They accord with the relevant tests in the NPPF as they 
are necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms, are directly 
related to the development and are fair and reasonably related in scale and kind to the 
development.

6.40

Off-site contributions pooled under the Community Infrastructure Levy

The council adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) on 1 April 2016.  With the 
exception of the affordable housing, any additional floor space is usually CIL liable at a 
rate of £150 per sq.m.  The money collected can be pooled with contributions from 
other development sites to fund a wide range of off-site infrastructure to support growth, 
including schools, transport, community, leisure and health facilities.    

6.41 Under the CIL regulations, the CIL liable floor area is offset by any existing floor area.  
The existing floor area will therefore be deducted from the floor space of the proposed 
development.  

Page 38



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 14 December 2016

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 This is a site that is allocated for housing in the Joint Henley Harpsden Neighbourhood 

Plan.  The development would provide a level of affordable housing that is viable in this 
case, and would contribute towards meeting housing need.  The proposal generally 
complies with the relevant development plan policies and would not be detrimental to 
the character and appearance of the site or the surrounding area, would not be 
unneighbourly and would not result in conditions prejudicial to highway safety.  When 
considered against the development plan as a whole, the proposal would represent a 
sustainable form of development and would boost housing numbers.  

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 To delegate authority to grant planning permission to the head of planning 

subject to:

i. The prior completion of a Section 106 agreement to secure the affordable 
housing, financial contributions and other obligations stated above; and

ii. The following conditions:

1. Commencement three years - full planning permission.
2. Approved plans. 
3. Materials, surfacing and boundary treatments to be agreed.
4. Levels to be agreed.
5. Compliance with recommendations in ecological appraisal.
6. Details of access and visibility splays to be agreed.
7. Details of widened footpath on Greys Road to be agreed.
8. Parking to be provided and retained. 
9. Construction method statement to be agreed.
10. Construction traffic management plan to be agreed. 
11. Travel information packs to be provided. 
12. Landscaping scheme and management to be agreed.
13. Surface water drainage to be agreed.
14. Foul drainage works to be agreed.
15. Air quality mitigation to be agreed.
16. Compliance with remediation strategy and submission of validation 

report.
17. Provision of fire hydrants to be agreed.
18. Construction hours restriction. 

Author: Emma Bowerman
Contact No: 01235 422600
Email: planning@southoxon.gov.uk

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 41

Agenda Item 8

EMMBOW
Typewriter
Appendix A - Location plan 



Page 42

EMMBOW_1
Typewriter
Appendix B - Block Plan 



P
age 43

EMMBOW_2
Typewriter
Appendix B - Elevations plots 1 - 6 



P
age 44

EMMBOW_3
Typewriter
Appendix B - Elevations plots 7 - 10



P
age 45

EMMBOW_4
Typewriter
Appendix B - Plots 11 - 12



P
age 46

EMMBOW_5
Typewriter
Appendix B - Plots 13 - 17 



P
age 47

EMMBOW_6
Typewriter
Appendix B - Street scene King James Way 

EMMBOW_7
Typewriter
Street scene Greys Road 



T
his page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Comittee –14 December 2016

APPLICATION NO. P16/S2785/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 18.8.2016
PARISH THAME
WARD MEMBERS Jeannette Matelot

David Dodds
Nigel Champken-Woods

APPLICANT Mr Simon Howard
SITE 35 Marston Road, Thame, OX9 3YG
PROPOSAL To construct on to the end of an existing terraced 

row of houses two independent one bedroom studio 
flats in a two storey extension. (As amended plans 
received 27 September 2016).

AMENDMENTS As above
GRID REFERENCE 471370/206176
OFFICER Caitlin Phillpotts

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 This application is referred to Planning Committee as the Officers’ recommendation

conflicts with the views of the Town Council.

1.2 The site (shown on the OS extract attached as Appendix A) contains a modest end of 
terrace dwellinghouse located within the built up limits of Thame falling within an area 
identified as Lea Park.   The site is positioned within a 20 minute walking zone of the 
town centre. 

1.3 The property fronts onto an area of public open space, is flanked by a pedestrian 
footpath to the south east and backs onto a small private car park, where number 35 
has one allocated parking space.  

1.4 The property benefits from a relatively large wrap around garden, including a small 
parcel of land currently laid to lawn positioned between the rear fence and the 
highway (Marston Road). 

1.5 The dwelling has a simple plan with dual pitched roof and modest partially enclosed 
single storey porch at the front. The dwelling (and terrace) is constructed in red facing 
brick with white UPVC windows, doors and rain water goods and an interlocking 
concrete tile roof.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 The application seeks permission for the sub-division of the plot and the creation of two 

additional one bedroom flats, accommodated by a two storey extension on the end of 
the existing terrace. Each new unit is to have its own private entrance, single off street 
parking space and allocated bin store. 

2.2 The proposed extension to the terrace has a foot print of approximately 62 sq. metres 
and is comprised of three main elements; 

 A two storey extension to the existing terrace, a replica of the existing property 
with the same width [4.45m], depth [7.8m] and ridge height [6.9m];

 An additional two storey extension projecting off the gable end,1.2 metres wide 
this element is set approximately 0.9 metres down from the main ridge and;

Page 49

Agenda Item 9

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S2785/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Comittee –14 December 2016

 A single storey element at the rear, stretching the width of the proposed ground 
floor dwelling, which projects 3 metres back from the existing rear building line. 

2.3 The proposals are shown in red facing brick with interlocking concrete tile roofs, white 
UPVC windows, doors and rain water goods, timber close board fencing and gravelled 
parking areas to match the existing dwelling and surrounding properties. 

2.4 The front boundary is shown to be planted with large shrubs. The small parcel of land 
currently laid to lawn positioned between the rear fence and the highway is shown to be 
mostly taken up by the allocated parking spaces with access onto Marston Road. A 
small section between the parking area and foot path is to be planted out with small 
trees.

2.5 A copy of the plans accompanying the application is attached as Appendix B. Other
documentation associated with the application can be viewed on the council’s website 
at www.southoxon.gov.uk.

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Thame Town Council - Objects. Recommending refusal.

 Comments on the original scheme raise concerns over the impact on 
neighbouring amenity stating , ‘It is considered that it would have a detrimental 
effect on neighbouring amenity particularly with regard to overlooking from the 
window of the kitchen on the side elevation of the first floor apartment’.

 In relation to the amended scheme the Town Council recommends refusal on 
the grounds of over development and poor design. 

3.2 Highways Liaison Officer (Oxfordshire County Council) - Recommends approval 
subject to conditions requiring the provision of the access arrangements, vision splays 
and parking. The following comment is taken from the Officer’s consultation response.  :

 ‘given the characteristics of the carriageway, vehicular traffic and speeds are 
likely to be low. The proposal is unlikely to have a significant adverse impact on 
the highway network’. 

3.3 Waste Management Officer (District Council) - No objection

3.4 Neighbours – 5 letters of objection raising the following concerns:  

 the development will be too close to adjacent Marston Road properties and will 
cause loss of light.  

 the closeness of the proposed property will have an adverse effect on the 
landscape in the area, already spoiled when the fence was erected next to the 
path. 

 concerns over the increased pressure on existing parking arrangements.  
 the development will result in overlooking 
 overdevelopment of the site and cramped appearance. 

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P78/N0056 - Approved (24/04/1978)

Revised highway layout for 145 dwellings

P77/N0451/RM - Approved (19/10/1977)

Page 50

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P78/N0056
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P77/N0451/RM


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Comittee –14 December 2016

Residential development of 261 units, estate roads and open space, ancillary works 
including foul and surface water drainage.

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

5.2 National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance

5.3 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) policies;

CSS1  -  The Overall Strategy
CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSH1  -  Amount and distribution of housing
CSH2  -  Housing density
CSH4  -  Meeting housing needs
CSTHA1  -  The Strategy for Thame
CSQ2  -  Sustainable design and construction
CSQ3  -  Design

5.4 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP) policies;

D1  -  Principles of good design
D2  -  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3  -  Outdoor amenity area
D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
D10  -  Waste Management
EP6  -  Sustainable drainage
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
G3  -  Development well served by facilities and transport
G5  -  Best use of land/buildings in built up areas
H4  -  Housing sites in towns and larger villages outside Green Belt
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

5.5 South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 

5.6 Thame Neighbourhood Plan (TNP) policies;

H5 – Integrate windfall sites
H6 – Design new development to be of high quality
H7 - Provide new facilities 
CLW4 - Contributions required from developers of new housing to fund additional 
             healthcare facilities 
ESDQ11 - Incorporate Sustainable Urban Drainage into new development
ESDQ12 - Applications for new development to provide a drainage strategy
ESDQ13 - New dwellings: code for sustainable homes 
ESDQ16 - Development must relate well to its site and sorrounding
ESDQ19 - The Design and Access Statement and accompanying drawings must 
                  provide sufficient detail for proposals to be properly understood
ESDQ26 - Design new buildings to reflect the three-dimensional qualities of traditional 
                  buildings
ESDQ27 - Design in the ‘forgotten’ elements from the start of the design process
ESDQ28 - Provide good quality outdoor space
ESDQ29 - Design car parking so that it fits in with the character of the proposed 
                 Development

Page 51



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Comittee –14 December 2016

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The main issues to be considered are: 

1. Principal of development
2. The impact on the character and appearance of the existing building and the 

surrounding area; 
3. The impact on neighbouring properties.
4. Impact on highway safety and convenience 
5. Drainage
6. Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
7. Other matters

6.2

Principal of development

The property is considered to be within the built up limits of Thame and is within walking 
distance to key services, public transport links and the town centre.

6.3 The proposed addition of a two storey building attached to the end of an existing 
terrace would represent ‘Infill housing’ as defined within the SOCS as the ‘filling of a 
small gap in an otherwise built up frontage’ or ‘on sites within settlements where the site 
is closely surrounded by buildings’. I am satisfied that the plot is of an acceptable size 
and position to be considered a small windfall site appropriate for small scale residential 
development in line with Policies CSTHA1 of the SOCS and H5 of the TNP.

6.4 Thame has an identified local need for more affordable units, with the South 
Oxfordshire Housing Needs Assessment 2008 finding ‘317 households in need of 
affordable housing would like accommodation within Thame siting it as a quality 
neighbourhood close to family and employment’. Public consultation for the Thame 
Neighbourhood Plan found that local people felt that there was ‘a lack of affordable 
homes to buy or rent with a particular a shortage of smaller homes’. (p.14, TNP)

6.5

Impact on character and appearance

(i) spacing and layout

35 Marston Road benefits from a particularly large residential curtilage which is 
uncharacteristic of the existing plot to build ratio in the locality. The property is 
organised at 90 degrees to the adjacent properties resulting in a side to front 
relationship.  

6.6 The current side elevation of 35 Marston Road is approximately 16 metres from the 
projecting porch and 18 meters from the adjacent principal elevation of numbers 45 and 
49. The proposals show an additional 5.65 metre two storey extension off the south 
east gable end. The proposed development would reduce the gap between the front 
and side elevations to approximately 12.35 metres. This proposed front to side 
relationship is not out of keeping with the locality and can be seen across the 
development at 37 to 38 Hamilton Road and 54 to 64/66 Ormond Road, as shown in 
the plan attached as Appendix C. The recently adopted SODG does not set out 
specific guidelines for distances between habitable rooms of properties arranged front 
to side. It does however suggest 12 metres between back to side and 10 meters 
between front to front (Part 2, section 7 of the SODG 2016). I am satisfied that the 
proposed relationship between the existing and proposed dwellings is not only in 
keeping with the character of the locality but also complies with the councils guidance 
on distances between habitable rooms set out to protect the privacy of occupants. 

Page 52



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Comittee –14 December 2016

6.7 The stretch of garden at the side of the development along with the public foot path 
allows for the retention of a sizable gap between the existing and proposed dwellings. 
In my opinion the proposed layout maintains the suburban character of the area and 
does not significantly alter the sense of spacing which characterises the locality.

6.8 (ii) plot coverage

The existing dwelling is to remain as is and retains an outdoor amenity area of 
approximately 54sq metres, similar to the neighbouring terrace properties. The private 
rear garden is not overlooked by adjacent outdoor sitting areas, living/dining rooms or 
kitchens of the proposed development, in line with Policy D3 of the SOLP. Access to 
both front and rear gardens of the existing property remain unobstructed and 
unchanged in line with technical guidance Part 3 section 6.7 of the South Oxfordshire 
design guide 2016 (SODG). 

6.9 The council’s technical guidance on the provision of adequate amenity space for new 
dwellings requires residential units (including apartments) to have a minimum of 35sq 
metres for each 1 bedroom unit (Part 2. 7.8 of SODG). The proposed flats share an 
allocated outdoor amenity provision of approximately 98sq metres, well above the 
specified 70sq metres. In addition the plans demonstrate additional onsite allocated 
parking spaces which do not compromise the garden areas. Both units have access to 
private garden areas not overlooked by adjacent outdoor sitting areas, living/dining 
rooms or kitchens.

6.10 The plot is large enough to accommodate two new dwellings of the scale proposed, the 
submitted plans demonstrate the provision of private amenity spaces and allocated 
onsite parking spaces, comparable to the neighbouring properties for both the existing 
and proposed dwelling houses. The proposals comply with Policies CSH2 and CSTHA1 
of the SOCS, Policies D1, D2, D3 and D4 of the SOLP, technical guidance set out in 
the SODG and Policies ESDQ28 and ESDQ29 of the TNP.

6.11 (iii) landscaping

The proposals show the existing close board fence to be retained around the side and 
rear of the residential curtilage. The existing mature shrub at the rear is to be removed 
to make way for parking area, which is shown to be gravelled to match existing.

6.12 A small area of grass is to be retained between the proposed parking areas and foot 
path. This area is to include the addition of two small trees. Not only will this help to 
soften the impact of the development on the surrounding area it will also help to clearly 
define the private parking areas from the entrance onto the public foot path.

6.13 Currently large shrubs line the eastern corner of the front boundary. These help to 
clearly define the amenity space at the front of the property from the public open space 
beyond. The proposals include the retention / provision of shrubs and planting along 
the front boundary in favour of fencing. The soft landscaping will not only ensure a 
reasonable level of privacy for occupants, it will help to maintain the corner as a green 
space between buildings. 

6.14 The public foot path to the south east of the plot provides a link from Marston Road into 
the public green infrastructure at the north east of the site. The proposed development 
would not obstruct any vista from Marston road onto the public open space beyond and 
would not impact upon the legibility of the public foot path network. 

6.15 Subject to an appropriate landscaping condition I do not believe that the proposals 

Page 53



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Comittee –14 December 2016

would materially harm the character and appearance of the area which is partly 
informed by areas of open green space. The proposal complies with Policies CS1, 
CSTHA1 and CSQ3 of the SOCS and Policies D1, D4, G2 and H4 of the SOLP, 
technical guidance set out in the SODG and Policies ESDQ16 and ESDQ28 of the 
TNP.

6.16 (iv) scale and massing

The main bulk of the development is a replica of the existing terrace property. The 
additional two storey extension projecting off the gable end is set down from the main 
ridge and in from the front and rear elevations, this acts to reduce the impact of the 
gable end along the adjacent public foot path. The single storey element at the rear 
would not be readily visible from the public vantage point. 

6.17 Whilst the design put forward has no outstanding architectural merit the proposals 
demonstrate a simple and pragmatic form reflecting the three dimensional qualities of 
the surrounding buildings and is of a scale, type and form appropriate to the site and its 
setting. The proposals comply with design Polices CSQ3 of the SOCS, D1 of the SOLP, 
ESDQ16 and ESDQ26 of the TNP and guidance set out in the SODG.

6.18 (v) internal amenity space

The proposed one bedroom units provide 47.6 and 40.3sq meters of internal floor 
space for ground and first floor flats respectively. The SODG requires new internal 
layouts to have regard to the space standards set out in the Government’s Planning 
Practice Guidance where one bedroom single storey dwellings are expected to have 
39-50 sq. metres of internal floor space. 

6.19 (vi) materials and detailing

The proposals are shown in red facing brick with interlocking concrete tile roofs, white 
UPVC windows, doors and rain water goods, timber close board fencing and gravelled 
parking areas to match the existing dwelling and attached terrace.  In my opinion the 
proposals form an appropriate visual relationship with the existing dwelling, and would 
not harm the character or appearance of the dwelling or the wider surrounding area. 

6.20

Impact on neighbours

Having carefully assessed the possible loss of direct sun light into neighbouring 
properties I do not consider that the proposed development would result in any 
significant impact on the neighbouring properties in this regard.  In order to assess the 
possible impact of the proposed development on the visible daylight reaching the 
habitable rooms of the properties directly adjacent to the proposed development (no. 45 
and 49 Marston Road) I have referred to the BRE Site layout planning for daylight and 
sunlight - A guide to good practice. The guidance sets out how to assess the diffuse 
skylight (visible daylight) enjoyed by an existing building in relation to a proposed new 
development. As shown on the scale diagram attached as Appendix D where the angle 
measured from the centre of the ground floor window is ‘less than 25 degrees the whole 
of the development is then unlikely to have a substantial effect on the diffuse skylight 
enjoyed by the existing building’, p7, section 2.2.5. In line with all technical guidance 
available I do not consider that the proposed development would have any significant 
impact on the direct sunlight and or daylight (skylight) of the existing surrounding 
properties. 

6.21 As discussed above the proposed front to side relationship is consistent with the 

Page 54



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Comittee –14 December 2016

existing gain of development and is fully compliant with guidance set out in the councils 
design guide. Although the proposed development would indeed bring the gable end of 
the existing terrace closer to the principal elevations of the adjacent properties to the 
south east I do not believe that the proposals outlined would give rise to any 
unacceptable harm to the outlook of the neighbouring properties.

6.22 The proposed development is arranged at 90 degrees to the existing properties to the 
east, as such the windows to the front elevation of the proposed units have only an 
oblique view across onto these principal elevations and present no opportunity for 
overlooking.  The proposed new unit is to have a single window on the first floor of the 
south east elevation (facing the fronts of the adjacent properties). This window is shown 
as a high level slot window with a cill height 1.7 metres above finished floor level. 

6.23 Given the scale, design and position of the proposed dwellings, I do not consider that 
the proposed development would result in any harm to the amenity of the neighboring 
properties in terms of light, outlook or privacy. The proposals are in accordance with 
Policies CS1, CSTHA1 and CSQ3 of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy 2027 and 
Policies D1, D4 and H4 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011, technical guidance 
set out in the SODG and Policy ESDQ16 of the TNP. 

6.24

Highway safety and convenience

The proposals show the retention of the existing single onsite parking space for the 
existing property as well as the addition of two new onsite parking spaces for the 
proposed new dwellings (one for each flat). As highlighted in the SODG Part 2 section 6 
‘residents tend to favour parking solutions which maintain a line of sight between their 
dwellings and their vehicle. As such parking courts to the rear of properties tend to be 
less successful solutions’. However given the arrangement of the cul-de-sac the 
proposed parking areas are well observed by neighbouring properties on Marston Road 
and are consistent with the existing parking arrangements in the immediate locality.

6.25 In relation to highway safety the Highway Liaison Officer has concluded that, ‘Given the 
characteristics of the carriageway, vehicular traffic and speeds are likely to be low. The 
proposal is unlikely to have a significant adverse impact on the highway network’.  The 
proposals comply with Policies CS1 and CSTHA1 of the SOCS, D2, T1 and T2 of the 
SOLP, technical guidance set out in the SODG and Policy ESDQ29 of the TNP.

6.26

Drainage 

All outdoor amenity space is shown as laid to lawn aside from foot paths. The parking 
and manoeuvring areas condition as recommended ensures that the proposed hard 
surfacing is constructed, laid out, surfaced, drained and completed to be compliant with 
sustainable drainage (SuDS) principles.

6.27

CIL

The proposed development would be liable to pay CIL as it includes the provision of 
two new dwellings. 

7.0 CONCLUSION
The proposal complies with the relevant Development Plan policies and, subject to the 
attached conditions, the proposed development would be acceptable in terms of its 
relationship to the character of the existing building, its site and the wider area. It is also 
acceptable in terms of its impact on neighbouring amenity.

Page 55



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Comittee –14 December 2016

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 To grant planning permission subject to the following conditions: 

1. Commencement of development within three years.
2. Development to be carried out in accordance with the approved plans. 
3. Materials to match existing building.
4. First floor south east facing window to be obscure glazed or 1.7 metres 

above internal floor level.
5. No additional windows, doors or other openings in the south east 

elevation at first floor level.
6. Landscaping details to be agreed prior to the commencement of the 

development.
7. New vehicular access to be provided prior to occupation.
8. Vision splays to be provided prior to occupation.
9. Parking and manoeuvring areas to be provided in accordance with 

approved plans.
10. No surface water drainage to the highway. 

Author:         Caitlin Phillpotts
Email:           Planning@southandvale.gov.uk
Telephone:  01235 422600

Page 56



Appendix A

Page 57

Agenda Item 9P16/S2785/FUL



Appendix B

P
age 58



P
age 59



8.9 m

10.9 m

Appendix C

Page 60



Appendix DP
age 61



T
his page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 14 December 2016

APPLICATION NO. P16/S3516/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 20.10.2016
PARISH Horspath
WARD MEMBER(S) Elizabeth Gillespie
APPLICANT Ms Pamela Wyles
SITE 7 Gidley Way, Horspath, OX33 1RQ
PROPOSAL New 2 bedroom attached house and associated 

works, including new entrance porch to adjoining 
property (7 Gidley Way) and vehicle access.

AMENDMENTS As amended by plan ref P01 B which reduced the 
height of the boundary brick wall to Gidley Way to 
0.6m.

GRID REFERENCE 457402 / 204665
OFFICER Kim Gould

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 This application is referred to Planning Committee because the recommendation is 

contrary to the views of Horspath Parish Council.

1.2 No 7 Gidley Way is a two storey semi-detached dwelling located at the south end of 
Gidley Way. It is rendered with red plain tiles. It has a large rear garden and parking 
and garden at the front. The site lies within the Oxford green belt but outside a 
conservation area or any other area or restraint.

1.3 There is a variety of house types in this part of Horspath predominantly detached 
and semi-detached properties with a varied pallet of materials used including, brick 
and render.

1.4 A copy of an OS extract showing the location of the site is attached as Appendix 1.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 This application seeks full planning permission for the erection of an attached 2 storey, 

2 bed dwelling. This application follows the submission of a pre application advice 
request ref P15/S1306/PEO and the withdrawal of a full planning application for an 
attached 3 bed dwelling earlier this year under ref P16/S1471/FUL.

2.2 The proposed new dwelling would have red plain tiles to match the existing with a 
mixture of rendered walls with cedar cladding and aluminium powder coated windows.

2.3 A copy of some of the submitted plans is attached as Appendix 2. A full copy of the 
plans together with supporting information can be viewed on the council’s website at 
www.southoxon.gov.uk.

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Horspath Parish 

Council
Object. Councillors consider that this application should be 
refused on the grounds that it is an over‐development of the land 
that is meant for one house and it is un‐neighbourly.

Page 63

Agenda Item 10

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S3516/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 14 December 2016

OCC (Highways) Original access/parking plan -Holding Objection 

The Highway Authority recommends a Holding Objection until the 
following has been addressed:
A scaled parking plan (1:200) showing the provision for two 
practical parking spaces for the
existing and the proposal in accordance with current dimensional 
standards
Visibility splays will need to be demonstrated for consideration
Refuse storage and collection details will need to be 
demonstrated for consideration

Revised access/ parking plan – No objection 

Revised plans have been submitted showing the walling either 
side of the access reduced to 0.6m in height. After investigation 
and reviewing the supplied documents, the Highway Authority has 
no objection subject to condition relating to parking spaces.

Neighbours No comments received.

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P16/S1471/FUL -  Withdrawn (13/07/2016)

New 3 bedroom attached house and associated works, including new entrance porch to 
adjoining property (7 Gidley Way) and vehicle access (as amended by plan ref P01/A 
site plan and plan ref P02 elevations received on 7 June 2016). (As updated by 
elevation plan received 14 June 2016 from agent ref P02 A)

P15/S1306/PEO – Response (22/05/2015)
To build a house attached to 7 Gidley Way. Alternatively, to build a house towards the 
end of the garden.

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy policies

CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSEN2  -  Green Belt protection
CSQ3  -  Design
CSR1  -  Housing in villages
CSS1  -  The Overall Strategy

5.2 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 policies;

D1  -  Principles of good design
D10  -  Waste Management
D3  -  Outdoor amenity area
D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
GB4  -  Openness of Green Belt maintained
H4  -  Housing sites in towns and larger villages outside Green Belt
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016

5.3 National Planning Policy Framework

Page 64

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S1471/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P15/S1306/PEO


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 14 December 2016

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance

5.4 Neighbourhood Plan. Paragraph 216 of the NPPF allows for weight to be given to 
relevant policies in emerging plans, unless other material considerations indicate 
otherwise, and only subject to the stage of preparation of the plan, the extent of 
unresolved objections and the degree of consistency of the relevant emerging policies 
with the NPPF.

Horspath Parish Council are working towards the adoption of a neighbourhood plan 
and the area has been designated. The neighbourhood plan has limited weight at this 
stage.

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 In assessing this planning application for a new dwelling the main planning 

considerations would be:

 Whether the principle of  a new dwelling is acceptable in this location 
 Impact on the openness and visual amenity of the Oxford green belt
 Policy H4 criteria of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan
 Garden sizes
 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)

6.2 Principle
Policy CSR1 of the SOCS allows for infill development within the larger villages of the 
District such as Horspath. Infill development is defined as the filling of a small gap in an 
otherwise built up frontage or on sites within settlements where the site is closely 
surrounded by buildings. This site is within the built up limits of Horspath in a continual 
row of residential development. As such, it is your officers’ opinion that the principle of 
residential development on this site is acceptable.

6.3 Notwithstanding the above, the council cannot currently demonstrate a five year supply 
of deliverable housing land. Paragraph 49 of the NPPF makes it clear that relevant 
policies for the supply of housing should not be considered up-to-date if the local 
planning authority cannot demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing land 
and the ‘presumption in favour of sustainable development’ should be applied. The 
mechanism for applying that presumption is set out in paragraph 14 of the NPPF. This 
advises that where relevant policies are out-of-date (unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise) then permission should be granted, unless any adverse impacts of 
doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed 
against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole or where specific policies in the 
NPPF indicate development should be restricted.

6.4 Impact on the openness and visual amenity of the green belt
The site lies within the Oxford green belt where there is a presumption against 
inappropriate development which is, by definition, harmful to the openness and visual 
amenity of the green belt. The fundamental aim of the green belt policy is to prevent 
urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open. The first step in assessing the impact 
on the green belt is to consider whether the proposal constitutes inappropriate 
development or not. If it is established that the development is not inappropriate then 
the next step is to consider whether development harms the openness of the green 
belt.

6.5 The NPPF advises that where villages are included within the green belt, it has to be 
because they too contribute to its openness. The site is considered as an infill plot as it 
is a small gap in an otherwise built up frontage and is closely surrounded by buildings 

Page 65



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 14 December 2016

in a village where the principle of infill is acceptable. CSR1 considers that if a site meets 
the definition of infill, then it will be part of a built up area and there would be harm to 
the openness but that it would be limited. In this case, it is your officers’ view that in the 
context of the wider visual impact and amenity of the green belt, the siting of the new 
dwelling in a line of existing development would not harm the wider openness of the 
green belt.

6.6 Policy H4 criteria
Where the principle of residential development is acceptable, the development must 
also comply with the following criteria of Policy H4 of the SOLP.

i. An important open space of public, environmental or ecological value 
is not lost nor an important public view spoilt. The site is currently the 
side and part rear garden of no 7 Gidley Way. As such, it is not an important 
open space of public interest.

ii. The design, height and scale and materials of the proposed 
development are in keeping with its surroundings.  The proposed 
dwelling would be attached to no 7 Gidley Way. It is designed to appear as a 
subservient extension with a lower ridge height than the host dwelling and is 
set well back from the front elevation of no 7. The proposed materials for the 
new dwelling are red plain tiles with render and clad elevations. Given the 
variety of materials used in the vicinity of the site and the fact that no 7 
Gidley Way is a semi-detached dwelling, the new development would be in 
keeping with its surroundings in your officers’ opinion.

iii. The character of the area is not adversely affected. The character of the 
area is an established residential area consisting predominantly of detached 
and semi-detached dwellings. Given the subservient design of the proposed 
dwelling, the erection of a single dwelling on this plot would continue an 
existing row of dwellings along the northern side of Gidley Way and would 
not adversely affect the established character of the area.

iv. There are no overriding environmental or highway objections.

Highway issues – The County Highway Authority raised a holding objection 
initially, the details of which are set out in paragraph 3.1 of this report. 
Revised drawings have been submitted and there are now no objections to 
the development subject to conditions relating to parking and turning. They           
are satisfied that sufficient space has been provided to allow for adequate 
parking and turning areas for both no 7 Gidley Way and the new dwelling. 

                              Neighbour impact – The proposed dwelling would sit in-between numbers 5 
and 7 Gidley Way. No 5 has a totally blank wall facing the new dwelling which 
would project beyond the new dwelling at the rear. As such, there would be 
no adverse impact on light or amenity of the occupiers of that property. The 
new dwelling would be attached to no 7. It would be set back some 5.6m 
from the front elevation of no 7 and would project some 2.5m beyond the rear 
elevation of no 7 at the rear. This relationship is no different to an extension 
or a terraced dwelling with a rear extension and would not, in your officers’ 
opinion adversely affect the amenity of the occupiers of no 7. 

v. If the proposal constitutes backland development it would not create    
problems of privacy and access and would not extend the built up 
limits of the settlement. The proposed dwelling fronts the road so would 
not constitute backland development.

Page 66



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 14 December 2016

6.7 Garden sizes
Policy D3 of the SOLP requires that a private outdoor garden or outdoor amenity space 
should be provided for all new dwellings. The amount of land to be used for the garden 
or amenity space will be determined by the size of dwelling proposed. This policy and 
the SODG seek to ensure that reasonable standards of private amenity space are 
provided in new developments. The SODG contains guidelines in respect of the 
maximum area of a plot that should be developed for different types of dwellings and 
the recommended minimum size of garden that should be provided, with the size 
relating to the number of bedrooms in the proposed dwelling. The new dwelling is a 2 
bedroom dwelling. The SODG advises that such size properties should have a private 
amenity space of some 50sqm. In this case the size of the rear garden is some 58 sqm 
which meets the council’s standards. The host dwelling no 7 has 4 bedrooms and 
should have a rear garden of some 100sqm to accord with Design Guide advice. The 
retained rear garden would be over some 587sqm which well exceeds the council’s 
guidelines. As such both dwellings have garden sizes which accord with council’s 
standards and therefore any argument suggesting over development would be difficult 
to sustain in your officers’ opinion.

6.8 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). The council’s CIL charging schedule was 
adopted in April 2016. CIL is a planning charge that local authorities can implement to 
help deliver infrastructure and to support the development of their area, and is primarily 
calculated on the increase in footprint created as a result of the development. In this 
case CIL is liable for the whole building because the proposal involves the creation of a 
new dwelling. The CIL charge applied to new residential development in this case is 
£150 per square metre of additional floorspace (zone1). 15% of the CIL will go directly 
to Horspath Parish Council (in the absence of an adopted Neighbourhood Plan) for 
spending towards local projects.

7.0 CONCLUSION
Your officers recommend that planning permission is granted because the development 
constitutes infill development as it lies within the built up limits of Horspath, is a small 
gap in an otherwise frontage and is closely surrounded by buildings. The proposal does 
not materially harm the wider openness or visual amenity of the green belt. The 
proposal affords for adequate amenity space and parking for both dwellings and does 
not result in a materially harmful unneighbourly impact on the adjacent dwellings. As 
such there are no technical reasons to refuse this application. With the recommended 
conditions, the development accords with the relevant Development Plan policies.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 To grant planning permission, subject to the following conditions:

1. Commencement three years - full planning permission.
2. Approved plans.
3. Withdrawal of permitted development (Part 1 Class A) - no extensions etc.
4. Withdrawal of permitted development (Part 1 Class E) - no buildings etc.
5. Parking provision for four cars to be provided.

Author:        Kim Gould
Contact No: 01235 422600
Email :         planning @southoxon.gov.uk 

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1

Page 69

Agenda Item 10P16/S3516/FUL



Bathroom
Bedroom 1

F I R S T No. 5

No. 7

Bedroom 2

KitchenLiving

Entrance Hall

G R O U N D No. 5

No. 7

To Mains Sewer
in Gidley Way

New foul
connection

Bins

Graveled Drive
(2 parking spaces)

wc

Graveled Drive
(2 parking spaces)

Bi
ns

D
ro

pp
ed

 K
er

b

Fo
ot

pa
th

G
ra

ss
 V

er
ge

Applicants Demise

New dwelling boundary

G
ID

LE
Y 

W
AY

Existing 1m high boundary
brick wall reduced to 0.6m
height adjacent highway
boundary

Existing 1m high boundary
brick wall reduced to 0.6m
height adjacent highway
boundary

CLIENT

PROJECT

A3

DESCRIPTIONNo. TITLE

Studio13 Architects Ltd
1 3 G r a v e l P i t s L a n e Y a r n t o n O X 5 1 P X
t 0 1 8 6 5 8 4 2 2 3 2 m 0 7 8 9 6 9 7 7 0 7 0
e m a y a @ s t u d i o 1 3 a r c h i t e c t s . u k

REVISIONDRAWING No.PROJECT No.

SCALE @ A3 DATEDRAWN

BP01PW16
1:100 OCT 16MKE

PROPOSED PLANS

Horspath
7 Gidley Way

Pamela Wyles
10m0 1m 2m 3m 4m 5m

A.  16.11.16 Updated to show shared parking and bin storage for both properties
B.  21.11.16 Updated plan to show boundary brick wall to Gidley Way reduced in height to 0.6m

Appendix 2

P
age 70



F R O N T    E L E V A T I O N S I D E   E L E V A T I O N

R E A R   E L E V A T I O N

Proposed Dwelling No.7

No. 9No. 5

No. 7

No. 5

S I D E   E L E V A T I O N

No. 7

No. 5

No.7 Proposed Dwelling

No. 7

CLIENT

PROJECT

A3

DESCRIPTIONNo. TITLE

Studio13 Architects Ltd
1 3 G r a v e l P i t s L a n e Y a r n t o n O X 5 1 P X
t 0 1 8 6 5 8 4 2 2 3 2 m 0 7 8 9 6 9 7 7 0 7 0
e m a y a @ s t u d i o 1 3 a r c h i t e c t s . u k

REVISIONDRAWING No.PROJECT No.

SCALE @ A3 DATEDRAWN

P02PW16
1:100 OCT 16MKE

PROPOSED ELEVATIONS

Horspath
7 Gidley Way

Pamela Wyles

10m0 1m 2m 3m 4m 5m

P
age 71



T
his page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 14 December 2016

APPLICATION NO. P16/S3461/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 18.10.2016
PARISH Warbourogh
WARD MEMBER(S) Richard Pullen

Felix Bloomfield
APPLICANT M Lewicki
SITE 25 Henley Road, Shillingford, OX10 7EL
PROPOSAL Dwelling house with garden and parking and 

associated works.
AMENDMENTS None
GRID REFERENCE 459528/192774
OFFICER Kim Gould

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 This application has come before Planning Committee at the request of Councillor 

Richard Pullen.

1.2 No 25 Henley Road is a two and a half storey detached property set behind the main 
row of properties along Henley Road. The dwelling is accessed from Wharf Road and 
has a double integral garage at ground floor, a first floor and second floor within the 
roof space.

1.3 The house has a garden immediately to the rear of the dwelling and a further area of 
garden, which is the subject of this planning application, to the east which is 
separated from the house and main garden by a public footpath and a vehicular 
access. This land is not part of the curtilage of no 25 Henley Road and thus does not 
benefit from permitted development rights. It appears to have been a former orchard 
which until recently housed several outbuildings and a small garage. A number of 
trees remain on site and a tree protection report has been submitted with the 
application together with a contaminated land questionnaire, a design and access 
statement and a sustainability statement. These documents can be viewed on line at 
www.southoxon.gov.uk

1.4 The site lies within the Oxfordshire green belt and outside, but close to the Shillingford 
conservation area. There are a number of listed buildings in close proximity to the site 
including nos 21 and 15 Henley Road and nos 3 and 5 Wharf Road. An OS extract 
showing the location of the site is attached as appendix 1.

1.5 This site has a full planning history which is listed in detail in section 4.1 of this report. 
In order to assist Members with the history which is most relevant to the consideration 
of this current proposal, I set down in abbreviated form,  the most pertinent and recent 
history below:

P13/S0554/HH Permission was granted to replace the existing single storey 
outbuildings with new outbuildings of the same volume on a different location within 
the site.

P14/S0948/FUL Planning permission was granted by Members for a new, single 
storey dwelling on this site. The dwelling appeared very similar in design to the 
previously approved outbuildings. 

Page 73

Agenda Item 11

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S3461/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 14 December 2016

P14/S3283/FUL Planning permission was approved for a dwelling as approved by the 
previous consent but included a basement.

P15/S0781/NM Planning permission was granted for a non-material amendment for 
some internal alterations.

P16/S1001/NM Planning permission was granted for a non-material amendment to 
reduce the size of the approved basement.  

P16/S2511/LDP Lawful development certificate granted in relation to the erection of a 
detached garage/outbuilding in the rear garden of no 25 Henley Road.
 
This current planning application follows pre application enquiry ref P16/S1444/PEO 
when the applicant was advised that an application for a two storey dwelling would not 
be supported. A copy of the officers’ letter to the applicant is attached as Appendix 2.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 Although planning permission has been granted for a single storey dwelling with a 

basement, the dwelling has not yet been built. The current application seeks full 
planning permission for the erection of a detached two storey, 3/4 bed dwelling with 
parking.

2.2 The dwelling would have a ridge height of some 6 metres due to it being dug into the 
ground to reduce its overall height and would be finished with red brick and stone. A 
copy of the submitted plans is attached as Appendix 3.

2.3 The proposed dwelling would have the remainder of the site as amenity area with an 
area in front of the dwelling for parking and manoeuvring. No garage accommodation is 
submitted with this current planning application.

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Shillingford Parish Council  - Approve

Countryside Access – No objections

OCC (Archaeology) - No objection subject to standard conditions

Monson Drainage consultants – They initially advised that a new flood risk assessment 
is required as they can not depend on the one used with the previous planning 
application. The site proposals are different and there may have been changes to flood 
map / flood level information previously used. 

The applicant’s agent has subsequently contacted the Environment Agency who has 
confirmed that there is no change from their previous records. Monson have advised 
that the previous flood report for the site – Glanville’s Flood Risk Assessment, Issue 2, 
dated 7 October 2014 is applicable to this current proposal and that development 
should be undertaken in accordance with the recommendations of that report.

Conservation officer – Objection. The characater in this location is for outbuildings and 
rural space. This proposal lifts the ridge height to provide the approved basement level 
accommodation at ground floor level.  I remain of the opinion that a dwelling here would 
not be appropriate and would harm the rural character of the otherwise simple open 
part of the village where the pattern of development is for dwellings which front onto the 
street, giving way to small ancillary outbuildings and open countryside to the rear. This 

Page 74



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 14 December 2016

setting contributes to the character and appearance of the Shillingford conservation 
area and a number of designated heritage assets.

OCC(Highways)  - No Objection subject to conditions relating to parking/turning and 
visibility.

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P16/S2976/FUL – (17/10/2016)

Dwelling house with garden and parking and associated works (as amended by revised 
site plan ref P01A which enlarges the turning head).

P16/S1444/PEO – (25/05/2016)
Moving of basement above ground level – Planning permission  P14/S3283/FUL has 
been granted, basement build is financially unviable.

P16/S1001/NM – Approved (18/04/2016)
Non-material amendment to P14/S3283/FUL – smaller basement

P15/S0781/NM – Approved (10/04/2015)
Non-material amendment to planning permission P14/S3283/FUL, to amend the 
internal layout.

P14/S3283/FUL – Approved (04/12/2014)
Demolition of existing outbuildings.  Erection of dwelling single storey above ground 
same size as approval P14/S0948 (with below ground basement)

P14/S2090/DIS – Approved (21/08/2014)
Demolition of existing outbuildings.  Erection of single storey dwelling. P14/S0948/FUL 
Conditions(s) 6- archaeology
10- access/flood levels

P14/S0948/FUL – Approved (19/05/2014)
Demolition of existing outbuildings. Erection of single storey dwelling

P14/S0240/FUL – Withdrawn (17/03/2014)
Demolition of existing outbuildings. Erection of a single storey dwelling.

P13/S2865/DIS – Approved (13/11/2013)
Replacement of existing out buildings. Re-submission of application P12/S2702/HH.

Discharge of conditions 3, 4 & 6 on application ref. P13/S0554/HH

P13/S0554/HH – Approved (18/04/2013)
Replacement of existing out buildings. Re-submission of application P12/S2702/HH

P12/S2702/HH – (02/01/2013)
Replacement of existing out buildings.

P03/W0728 – Refused (09/10/2003) – Refused on appeal (10/06/2004)
Erection of two storey detached dwelling with double garage.

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy policies

CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development

Page 75

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S2976/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S1444/PEO
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S1001/NM
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P15/S0781/NM
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P14/S3283/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P14/S2090/DIS
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P14/S0948/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P14/S0240/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P13/S2865/DIS
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P13/S0554/HH
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P12/S2702/HH
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P03/W0728


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 14 December 2016

CSEN2  -  Green Belt protection
CSR1  -  Housing in villages
CSS1  -  The Overall Strategy

5.2 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 policies;

CON7  -  Proposals in a conservation area
D1  -  Principles of good design
D3  -  Outdoor amenity area
D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
GB4  -  Openness of Green Belt maintained
H4  -  Housing sites in towns and larger villages outside Green Belt
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016

5.3 National Planning Policy Framework

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance

5.4 Paragraph 216 of the NPPF allows weight to be given to relevant policies in emerging 
plans, unless other material considerations indicate otherwise, and only subject to the 
stage of preparation of the plan, the extent of unresolved objections and the degree of 
consistency of the relevant emerging policies within the NPPF

Shillingford are working towards adoption of a neighbourhood plan and are at stage 1 
of the process (Area designation). The neighbourhood plan has limited weight at this 
stage.

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The main issues to be considered in the determination of this planning application are:

 Principle of residential development
 Impact on the openness and visual amenity of the Oxford green belt
 Any very special circumstances?
 Policy H4 of the SOLP
 Garden size 
 Trees
 Flooding
 CIL
 Other issues

6.2 Principle
The site lies within the Oxford green belt. The NPPF advises that inappropriate 
development is, by definition, harmful to the openness and should be resisted unless 
very special circumstances exist to outweigh this harm.

6.3 Although your officers were of the opinion that the erection of a dwelling on this site 
was contrary to green belt policy and National advice, permission was granted by 
Members in 2014 for a single storey dwelling which mirrored the appearance of the 
scheme which had previously been granted for replacement outbuildings on this site. 
That is to say, the scheme was single storey only, had a flat roof and appeared low key 
in the overall landscape. A copy of the approved drawings for the replacement 

Page 76



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 14 December 2016

outbuildings is attached as Appendix 4 together with a copy of the approved drawings 
for the dwelling approved under planning ref P14/S0948/FUL. As such, the principle of 
a single storey dwelling on this site has been established.

Notwithstanding the above, the council cannot currently demonstrate a five year supply 
of deliverable housing land. Paragraph 49 of the NPPF makes it clear that relevant 
policies for the supply of housing should not be considered up-to-date if the local 
planning authority cannot demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing land 
and the ‘presumption favour of sustainable development’ should be applied. The 
mechanism for applying that presumption is set out in paragraph 14 of the NPPF. This 
advises that where relevant policies are out-of-date (unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise) then permission should be granted, unless any adverse impacts of 
doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed 
against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole or where specific policies in the 
NPPF indicate development should be restricted.

6.4 Impact on the openness and visual amenity of the green belt
The extant permission for a dwelling (and basement P14/S3283/FUL) on this site had a 
ridge height above ground level of some 3 metres and its above level volume replaced 
that of some outbuildings which had previously been on the site. As such, it had very 
little more impact visually than the previously approved scheme for replacement 
outbuildings. What is currently proposed is very different in your officers’ opinion. It 
appears as a two storey detached dwelling with a pitched roof and dormer windows and 
a ridge height of some 6 metres. As such, it has a greater impact on the openness and 
visual amenity of the green belt than the extant permission and is therefore 
inappropriate and harmful. 

6.5 Very special circumstances
Government advice within the NPPF advises that inappropriate development is, by 
definition, harmful unless there are very special circumstances which would outweigh 
this harm. The applicant’s agent has suggested that such very special circumstances 
do exist. Earlier this year, they submitted a Lawful Development Certificate on behalf of 
the applicant for the erection of a single storey garage/store building within the rear 
garden of no 25 Henley Road (P16/S2511/LDP). Such certificates confirm whether or 
not the proposed structure would require planning permission or whether it falls within 
permitted development. In this case, the certificate was granted. A plan showing the 
approved scheme is attached as Appendix 5. The agent is claiming that this garage 
represents very special circumstances because if it was built together with the extant 
planning permission for the dwelling (with basement) the cumulative volume would be 
greater than what is currently proposed. They confirm in their formal submission that if 
planning permission was granted for this current two storey dwelling, the applicant 
would forego the opportunity to erect the garage building under permitted development 
and therefore minimise the additional volume on the site.

6.6 Your officers do not agree that this scenario represents very special circumstances. 
The proposed garage which can be built under permitted development is a single 
storey, flat roof structure which would be sited within the residential curtilage of no 25 
Henley Road and would appear as a subservient ancillary residential structure with a 
maximum height of 2.5 metres. It is the two storey nature (6 metre height) of the current 
proposal and its siting within an area of land which is not residential curtilage and which 
an appeal inspector has previously described as being on the “edge of the settlement of 
Shillingford not a small gap in an otherwise built up frontage where infilling would be 
acceptable but a large open area lying behind the general pattern of development in the 
settlement” which makes this proposal unacceptable in your officers’ opinion. The 
impact of the current proposal on this sensitive site, would be the same whether or not 

Page 77



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 14 December 2016

the garage approved under the Lawful Development Certificate was implemented and 
therefore the existence of such a certificate is not considered to represent very special 
circumstances in this case.

6.7 It could be suggested that there is a fall-back position which is that if planning 
permission is not granted for this current proposal, a dwelling can be erected on this 
site in any event. This may be the case but it is the type of dwelling which is being 
proposed which is the issue here and which officers consider to be potentially harmful 
to the openness and visual amenity. Notwithstanding the objection to the proposed two 
storey dwelling, Members’ attention is drawn to the fact that there is no garage parking 
with this current proposal. The previous extant permission included an integral garage. 
It is very likely that a future application for garage parking would be forthcoming and if 
planning permission was granted for this two storey structure, such a development 
would be very difficult to resist thereby increasing the impact on the openness of the 
green belt.

6.8 Policy H4 criteria
Policy H4 of the SOLP allows for housing on sites within the built up areas of villages 
providing a number of criteria are met. As stated previously, it is your officers’ opinion 
that the site lies outside the built up area of Shillingford but for completeness the 
proposal is considered against each of the 5 criteria of policy H4 below:

i. An important open space of public, environmental or ecological value 
is not lost, nor an important public view spoilt. The site is domestic 
garden and is not considered to have any special public, environmental or 
ecological value.

ii. The design, height, scale and materials of the proposed development 
are in keeping with its surroundings. It is accepted by your officers that 
there is an extant planning permission for a single storey dwelling on this 
site which replicates a permission for replacement outbuildings. The current 
proposal is a two storey dwelling which would not be in keeping with this 
location which lies behind the main pattern of development along Henley 
Road.

iii. The character of the area is not adversely affected. The proposed 
dwelling would adversely affect the established semi- rural nature of this site 
which has only to date had single storey outbuildings on it. It lies adjacent to 
but outside the conservation area and therefore its impact on the character 
and appearance of the conservation area needs to be considered. The 
conservation officer has confirmed that her objection to this proposal 
remains the same as that for the 2014 scheme which was the erection of a 
dwelling on this site which is defined by ancillary outbuildings is considered 
harmful to the adjoining Shillingford conservation area and the nearby 
statutorily and locally listed buildings.

iv. There are no overriding, environmental or highway objections. The 
proposed development would not be unneighbourly as the windows facing 
north towards the nearest neighbour at 19 Henley Road would be at ground 
level only. There is parking and turning within the site. No objection is being 
raised to this proposal on these grounds.

v. If the proposal constitutes backland development, it would create 
problems of privacy and access and would not extend the built up 
limits of the settlement. The proposal is backland development as it would 
sit to the rear of nos 1,1a and 3 Wharf Road and to the rear of 19 Henley 
Road. Given that there is an existing vehicular access which extends from 
Wharf Road to the site, there is no objection on highway grounds particularly 
as parking and turning can be provided within the site. The site lies outside 

Page 78



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 14 December 2016

the established built up area of the village. However, there is an extant 
permission to erect a single storey dwelling on this site so the principle 
extending the built limits of Shillingford on this site has been approved.

6.9 Garden size
The proposed dwelling has 3-4 bedrooms. Policy D3 of the SOLP requires all new 
dwellings to have a private amenity area and the South Oxfordshire Design Guide 
advises that for a 3-4 bedroom house, this area should be a minimum of 100sqm. This 
proposal provides this area of amenity space and no objection is being raised on 
amenity grounds.

6.10 Trees
A plan has been submitted which confirms the trees which are intended to remain on 
the site. A tree protection report has been submitted to aid the successful retention of 
trees on the site. Notwithstanding the objection to this proposal, it is considered that the 
loss of some less significant trees on the site and the protection of the more significant 
ones is acceptable.

6.11 Flooding
The site lies within Flood Zone 2. Flooding advice is given in the technical guidance to 
the NPPF. There are 2 elements that any proposal must meet to be acceptable.

The Sequential Test approach aims to steer new development to areas at the lowest 
probability of flooding. The overall aim of the Local Planning Authorities should be to 
steer new development to Flood Zone. Where there are no reasonably available sites in 
Flood Zone 1, Local Planning Authorities allocating land in local plans or determining 
planning applications for development at any particular location should take into 
account the flood risk vulnerability of land uses and consider reasonable available sites 
in Flood Zone 2 applying the Exception Test if required.

Within each flood zone, new development should be directed first to sites at the lowest 
probability of flooding and the flood vulnerability of the intended use matched to the 
flood risk of the site e.g. higher vulnerability uses located on parts of the site at the 
lowest probability of flooding. 

Within the SOCS, Shillingford is divided into two area – north east and south west of 
the A4074. The site lies within the area south west of the A4074 so whilst considering 
alternative sites for housing with less flooding vulnerability, only the area south of the 
A4704 should be considered. There are no housing sites in this part of the settlement 
which are not affected by the some flood zoning or risks. No FRA was submitted with 
this planning application. The agents state in their Design and Access Statement in 
relation to flooding that  “When the previous applications were approved FRAs were 
provided to the Council. Given that this proposal has less below ground work and has 
less footprint than the previous approval it is not considered necessary to provide a 
wholly new FRA. Guidance in the NPPG is that they should be proportionate. Since the 
previous approvals there have been no flooding incidents and no reasons (such as a 
flood review) which will have altered the baseline data. Accordingly given that in flood 
terms this scheme will be preferable to the previous scheme approvals for the reasons 
given above flooding should not be considered a reason to object to this application.’ I 
have consulted Monson, the council’s drainage engineers who requested that a revised 
FRA was submitted as the information included in the 2014 one could not be relied 
upon.

On the advice of Monson, the agent contacted the Environment Agency to enquire 
whether there had been any change in flood levels/other circumstances since the 

Page 79



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 14 December 2016

previous flood risk assessment was carried out in 2014.  The Environment Agency have 
confirmed that there has been no such changes and therefore no further FRA has been 
carried out. Monson have advised that the previous flood report for the site – Glanville’s 
Flood Risk Assessment, Issue 2, dated 7 October 2014 is applicable to this current 
proposal and that development should be undertaken in accordance with the 
recommendations of that report. No objection has therefore been raise on flooding 
grounds.

6.12 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
The council’s CIL charging schedule has been adopted and applies to relevant 
proposals from 1 April 2016. CIL is a planning charge that local authorities can 
implement to help deliver infrastructure and to support the development of their area, 
and is primarily calculated on the increase in footprint created as a result of the 
development. 

In this case CIL is liable because the proposal involves the creation of a new dwelling. 
The CI charge is applied to new residential development in this case is £150 per square 
metre of additional floorspace (zone 1).   The scheme has a floor area of 182 sqm 
which would generate a CIL payment of £27,300. 15% of the CIL payment will go 
directly to Clifton Hampden Council in the absence of an adopted Neighbourhood Plan 
for spending towards local projects.

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 The principle of a single storey, modest dwelling has been accepted on this site, 

however, the current proposal for a 2 storey 3-4 bedroom dwelling would be harmful to 
the openness and visual amenity of the green belt and to the character and appearance 
of the Shillingford conservation area and the setting of nearby listed buildings.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 To refuse planning permission for the following reasons:

1. The site lies within the Oxford green belt, outside the established built up 
area of Shillingford. The erection of a two storey dwelling represents 
inappropriate development within the green belt which is harmful to both 
its openness and visual appearance and will adversely affect the 
established character and appearance of the area. As such, the proposal 
is contrary to policies CSEN2 and CSR1 of the adopted South Oxfordshire 
Core Strategy 2027 and saved policies H4 and GB4 of the South 
Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011.

2. The erection of a new two storey dwelling in this area would be harmful to 
the open rural character and appearance of the area which contributes to 
the character of the adjoining Shillingford conservation area and the 
setting of nearby listed buildings contrary to policy CSEN3 of the adopted 
South Oxfordshire Core Strategy, 2027, to saved policies CON7 and CON5 
of the adopted South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 and to paragraphs 134 
and 137 of the NPPF.

Author:            Kim Gould
Contact No:     01235 422600
Email:               planning@southoxon.gov.uk

Page 80



Appendix 1

Page 81

Agenda Item 11P16/S3461/FUL



www.southoxon.gov.uk  

Planning 
Head of Service: Adrian Duffield 

Ms Lewicki 
25 Henley Road 
Shillingford 
WALLINGFORD 
OX10 7EL 

CONTACT OFFICER: Kim Gould
registration@southandvale.gov.uk 

Tel : 01235 422600 
Textphone: 18001 01235 422600 

135 Eastern Avenue, Milton Park 
ABINGDON OX14 4SB

25 May 2016 Ref: P16/S1444/PEO

Dear Ms Lewicki, 

Location: Rear of 25 Henley Road, Shillingford, OX10 7EL 
Proposal: Moving of basement above ground level - Planning permission  
P14/S3283/FUL. 

I refer to your pre application enquiry request and to our meeting at your home on 11 
May, 2016. 

Planning permission was granted under planning ref P14/S0948/FUL and 
P14/S3283/FUL for a new dwelling with and without a basement respectively. I 
understand that following estimates for the construction of the scheme including the 
basement, this has now proved to be cost prohibitive and you wish to obtain an 
officers’ view on whether a revised planning application to include the volume of the 
basement above ground level would be supported. 

I met with you on 11 May and we discussed this idea. The purpose of this letter is to 
summarise what was discussed and to confirm my view on this proposal. 

The site lies within the Oxfordshire green belt and outside, but close to the 
Shillingford conservation area. As you are aware, an application to erect a two storey 
dwelling on this site was refused in 2003 and subsequently dismissed on appeal. The 
extant planning permissions permit the erection of a single storey dwelling and a 
dwelling with a basement on the same footprint as the previous planning permission 
for the replacement outbuildings. I understand from our discussion that the 
outbuildings have now been removed. 

Inappropriate development, is by definition, harmful to the openness of the green belt 
and should be resisted unless very special circumstances exist to outweigh this  
harm.  

Appendix 2

Page 82



 

It is my opinion that any proposal to increase the bulk and volume of the extant 
permission above ground level would be inappropriate development and should be 
resisted. The single storey dwelling which has been approved has a single integral 
garage. If you wish to provide additional habitable accommodation, I would advise 
you to consider having outside parking only and using the floorspace currently 
annotated as garage as additional floorspace for living accommodation. I am aware 
that you have a preference for a garage and wish to have regular visitors. These 
reasons do not, however, constitute very special circumstances which outweigh the 
harm which would be caused by additional height, bulk and above ground level 
volume. 
 
During our meeting, you indicated that you intended to pursue a full planning 
application for a two storey dwelling. I advised you that it would be unlikely that such 
a proposal would be supported at officer level for the reasons set out above. Like last 
time, when officers recommended refusal for your planning application, you may 
have local support and a Member may be prepared to call it into Planning Committee 
for a decision. I offered the view that if you submitted such an application, the ridge 
height should be kept as low as possible and the additional volume above that which 
has already been granted under planning ref P14/S0948/FUL should be kept to a 
minimum. You indicated that you would explore the possibility of digging down in the 
site to reduce the ridge height and contact local agents to seek their opinions on how 
a revised scheme could overcome my concerns. 
 
In summary, I am of the opinion that a two storey dwelling on this site would not be 
acceptable in green belt and visual amenity terms. The use of the garage area of the 
extant consent for habitable accommodation would provide you with additional living 
space if required. 
 
I trust this is helpful. You will appreciate that the views expressed in this letter are my 
own and are not binding on the Council. If you wish to obtain a formal opinion, you 
should submit a full planning application together with the appropriate plans and fee. 
This will take approximately 8 weeks to determine. 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 

 
 
Kim Gould 
Planning Officer
 

Page 83



existing access

proposed new dwelling

1:200   @   A2

www.andersonorr.cominfo@andersonorr.com01865 873936
The Studio,   70 Church  Road,   Wheatley,   Oxford,   OX33  1LZ

descriptiondaterevision

status

job/drawing no/revision

scaledrawnfirst issued

client name

drawing title

project title

NOTE:
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE AND NOT SCALED FROM THIS
DRAWING.
FOR USE IN PRECISE NAMED LOCATION ONLY. COPYRIGHT RESERVED.

120

PLANNING

16058 - P01

MISS M LEWICKI

PROPOSED OUTBUILDING, 
25 HENLEY ROAD, 
SHILLINGFORD

ACJULY '16

PROPOSED SITE PLAN

HENLEY ROAD

Appendix 3P
age 84



existing access

proposed new dwelling

0 12

NOTE:

ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE AND NOT SCALED FROM THIS
DRAWING.

FOR USE IN PRECISE NAMED LOCATION ONLY. COPYRIGHT RESERVED.

project title

drawing title

client name

first issued drawn scale

job/drawing no/revision

status

revision date description

The Studio,   70 Church  Road,   Wheatley,   Oxford,   OX33  1LZ

01865 873936 info@andersonorr.com www.andersonorr.com

1:200  @ A2

PROPOSED SITE PLAN

JULY '16 AC

PROPOSED OUTBUILDING, 

25 HENLEY ROAD, 
SHILLINGFORD

MISS M LEWICKI

16058 - P01-A

PLANNING

HENLEY ROAD

revA parking amended

BINS

gravel drive

P
age 85



north elevation east elevation

1:100  @  A2

www.andersonorr.cominfo@andersonorr.com01865 873936
The Studio,   70 Church  Road,   Wheatley,   Oxford,   OX33  1LZ

descriptiondaterevision

status

job/drawing no/revision

scaledrawnfirst issued

client name

drawing title

project title

NOTE:
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE AND NOT SCALED FROM THIS
DRAWING.
FOR USE IN PRECISE NAMED LOCATION ONLY. COPYRIGHT RESERVED.

60

PLANNING

16058 - P03

MISS M LEWICKI

PROPOSED NEW DWELLING, 
25 HENLEY ROAD, 
SHILLINGFORD

CHAUG '16

PROPOSED ELEVATIONS

south elevation west elevation

natural stone to LPA approval

buff brick to LPA approval

clay tiles to LPA approval

traditional timber joinery

P
age 86

KIMGOU
Distance Measurement
Distance:
5.86 m

KIMGOU_1
Distance Measurement
Distance:
6.74 m



GIA 91sqm / 977 sqftGIA 91sqm / 977 sqft

ref46.00

0 6

NOTE:
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE AND NOT SCALED FROM THIS
DRAWING.
FOR USE IN PRECISE NAMED LOCATION ONLY. COPYRIGHT RESERVED.

project title

drawing title

client name

first issued drawn scale

job/drawing no/revision

status

revision date description

The Studio,   70 Church  Road,   Wheatley,   Oxford,   OX33  1LZ
01865 873936 info@andersonorr.com www.andersonorr.com

1:100  @  A2

PROPOSED PLANS & SECTION

AUG '16 LH

PROPOSED NEW DWELLING, 
25 HENLEY ROAD, 
SHILLINGFORD

MISS M LEWICKI

16058 - P02

PLANNING

living

kitchen

dining

wc

section A-A

FIRST FLOOR PLANGROUND FLOOR PLAN

A

A

landing

bathroom en-suite dressing

master bed

bed 02bed 03

study

P
age 87



Appendix 4

P
age 88



P
age 89



existing wall to be retained

0 12

NOTE:

ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE AND NOT SCALED FROM THIS
DRAWING.
FOR USE IN PRECISE NAMED LOCATION ONLY. COPYRIGHT RESERVED.

project title

drawing title

client name

first issued drawn scale

job/drawing no/revision

status

revision date description

The Studio,   70 Church  Road,   Wheatley,   Oxford,   OX33  1LZ

01865 873936 info@andersonorr.com www.andersonorr.com

1:200   @   A2

PROPOSED SITE PLAN

JULY '16 AC

PROPOSED OUTBUILDING, 

25 HENLEY ROAD, 
SHILLINGFORD

MISS M LEWICKI

16058 - CL01

CLOPUD

Appendix 5

P
age 90



2
5
0
0

timber boarding

high level windows

GROUND FLOOR PLAN

w e s t  e l e v a t i o n s o u t h  e l e v a t i o n

n o r  t h  e l e v a t i o n

datum 47.50

datum 47.50datum 47.50

datum 47.50

garden studio store

1:100   @   A3

www.andersonorr.cominfo@andersonorr.com01865 873936

The Studio,   70 Church  Road,   Wheatley,   Oxford,   OX33  1LZ

descriptiondaterevision

status

job/drawing no/revision

scaledrawnfirst issued

client name

drawing title

project title

NOTE:
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE AND NOT SCALED FROM THIS
DRAWING.

FOR USE IN PRECISE NAMED LOCATION ONLY. COPYRIGHT RESERVED.

60

CLOPUD

16058 - CL02

MISS M LEWICKI

PROPOSED OUTBUILDING,
25 HENLEY ROAD,

SHILLINGFORD

ACJULY '16

PROPOSED PLAN AND ELEVS

e a s t  e l e v a t i o n

P
age 91



T
his page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 14 December 2016

APPLICATION NO. P16/S2292/FUL & P16/S2293/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 6.7.2016
PARISH Stanton St John
WARD MEMBER(S) John Walsh
APPLICANT Mr & Mrs J Belcher
SITE The Farmhouse; and Breach Farm Barn 

Breach Farm, Wheatley Road, Stanton St John, OX33 
1FG

PROPOSAL The Farmhouse: Application to remove condition 9 
(agricultural occupancy) on P10/W1125.
(Erection of an agricultural worker's dwelling 
APP/Q3115/A/10/2140369)

Breach Farm Barn: Application to remove condition 5 
(agricultural occupancy) on application P11/W0903.
(Alterations and extensions to stone barn to form a 
dwellinghouse for occupation by an agricultural worker 
and associated ground works.)

NB. A unilateral undertaking has been drawn up to 
transfer the agricultural occupancy conditions (above) to 
Bramble Cottage and Blackberry Cottage (previously 
approved as open market residential accommodation). 
This legal agreement forms part of the current application.

AMENDMENTS None
GRID REFERENCE 458607/208409
OFFICER Katherine Canavan

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1i The applications have been referred to Planning Committee because the officer 

recommendation conflicts with the views of Stanton St John Parish Council and Forest 
Hill with Shotover Parish Council. The objections raised are summarised in 
section 3.1, and can be viewed in full under the case files P16/S2292/FUL and 
P16/S2293/FUL on the Council’s website at www.southoxon.gov.uk.

1.1ii The application was deferred by Members on 5 October 2016 for officers to seek 
further clarification on the implications of transferring the conditions. The following 
concerns were raised during the meeting:

 the transfer of the conditions would allow the two larger properties to be made 
available as market housing;

 the two smaller units would be impractical as agricultural units; and
 the transfer of conditions would conflict with the original justification for 

agricultural need at the site.

Reading Agricultural Consultants, who have provided advice to the council on 
previous applications on the site, have investigated the concerns of the Planning 
Committee. The full response can be found in Appendix 3 (summarised in section 

Page 93

Agenda Item 12

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S2293/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S2293/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S2293/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 14 December 2016

6.1).
1.2 The application site, Breach Farm, is located to the north of Forest Hill and to the 

south of Stanton St John, accessed via a track off the B4027. The site comprises a 
number of agricultural buildings, as well as four residential buildings; two of which 
have agricultural occupancy restrictions attached. The site has developed through a 
series of recent applications set out in section 4.0, which are relevant to the current 
application.

1.3 The site is located within the Oxford Green Belt.

1.4 The site is identified on the Ordnance Survey Extract attached at Appendix 1. 

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 The application seeks full planning permission to remove the agricultural occupancy 

conditions on the Farmhouse and Breach Farm Barn, and to transfer the agricultural tie 
to Bramble Cottage and Blackberry Cottage by means of a unilateral undertaking.

2.2 The relevant buildings and a summary of the transfer of conditions is indicated on the 
site plan attached at Appendix 2. Full copies of the plans, planning statement and 
consultation responses are available for inspection on the Council’s website at 
www.southoxon.gov.uk.

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS

3.1 Stanton St John 
Parish Council

Object:
Permission has only recently been granted for the agricultural 
workers dwellings, and the operation has continued to expand. 
Concern has been raised that the smaller units would not meet 
the future agricultural needs of the enterprise, when the larger 
units are being transferred out of agricultural occupancy.

Forest Hill with 
Shotover Parish 
Council

Object:
The reasoning behind the agricultural need, on which the 
residential use was previously approved, has altered since 
previous applications. The agricultural need was based on 
biosecurity reasons and the positioning of The Farmhouse 
alongside the track, which would no longer be the case with the 
agricultural workers’ units being located centrally within the site.

Neighbour 
representations 
(4 received)

Object: 
 Over-expansion of the site within the green belt, which sets 

a dangerous precedent for other farms in the green belt
 The current conditions protect against loss of the farm in the 

long-term and should be maintained. Development to date 
has altered it from a small agricultural holding to a 
residential development.

 Further incremental development of the site would harm the 
openness of the green belt, and increase congestion on the 
main road, conflicting with existing residential streets in 
Forest Hill.

Page 94



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 14 December 2016

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

4.1 REFERENCE PROPOSED 
DEVELOPMENT DWELLING DATE DECISION

P06/W1353
Use of land for stationing a 
mobile home for occupation 
by agricultural worker

Breach Farm 2008
Approved

P08/W0590/RET Erection of temporary 
accommodation Breach Farm 2008 Approved

P09/W1141
Erection of a pair of semi-
detached agricultural 
workers dwellings

Breach Farm 2010
Withdrawn 
prior to 
determination

P10/W1125 Agricultural workers dwelling The
Farmhouse 20/10/10 Refused

PINS Ref
2140369 Agricultural workers dwelling The

Farmhouse 03/03/11 
Appeal 
allowed
Approved

P11/W0382/DIS 
Details reserved by 
conditions
on P11/W1125

The
Farmhouse 28/03/11 Approved

P11/W0903 
Alterations and extension to
stone barn to form a
dwelling house

Breach Farm
Barn 15/08/11 Approved

P11/W1685/DIS 
Details reserved by 
conditions
on P11/W0903

Breach Farm
Barn 27/10/11 Approved

P14/S1278/PAR 

Prior Notification Approval 
Class
MB(a) and (b)
Change of use from 
agricultural
building to class C3 
(dwellings)
with associated external
changes

Bramble
Cottage and
Blackberry
Cottage

18/06/14 Approved

P14/S2748/DIS 
Details reserved by 
conditions
on P14/S1278/PAR

Bramble
Cottage and
Blackberry
Cottage

14/01/15 Approved

4.2 SE15/376 – Ongoing case with the Planning Enforcement Team
The residential use of various buildings contrary to agricultural worker conditions.

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy policies (SOCS)

CS1 – Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSS1 – Overall strategy and distribution of development
CSQ3 – Design
CSR1 – Housing in villages
CSEN2 – Green Belt

5.2 South Oxfordshire Local Plan policies (SOLP)
G2 – Protect district from adverse development
H4 – Proposals for houses
GB4 – Green Belt

5.3 South Oxfordshire Design Guide (SODG)

Page 95



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 14 December 2016

5.4 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

5.5 The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 
2015 (as amended)
Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.0i The key considerations in determining the applications are:

 Response to matters raised by Planning Committee – 05/10/16
 Process to remove or vary a condition
 Background to the applications
 Original justification for conditions
 Policy / site changes since approval
 Impact of varying the conditions 

6.1 Response to matters raised by Planning Committee – 05/10/16
6.1i Reading Agricultural Consultants (RAC), who have previously assessed the 

agricultural need and earlier applications on the site, were asked for advice on the 
following points:

6.1ii What were the original grounds for agricultural need, thereby adding weight to 
approval of The Farmhouse? Do these grounds still stand with the current 
proposal?
The 2010 appeal was concerned largely with the siting, prominence and relationship 
with the established buildings within the farm, for the purposes of farm security and 
bio-security. As identified on RACs’ recent site visit, the farm is very well monitored in 
terms of general farm security with two farm employees living next to the farm 
buildings and the other two dwellings being occupied by residential tenants. There 
have been no security concerns reported. It is also apparent that the farm, as an 
Approved Finishing Unit, must already follow strict bio-security arrangements, and that 
the arrangements at Breach Farm have proved acceptable on its annual inspections. 
There is no evidence that the existing residential arrangements are deficient in any 
way in terms of farm operation, farm security or bio-security.

6.1iii Does the reduction in floor space have any impact on the original agricultural 
needs justification?
The Farmhouse and Blackberry Cottage both have three bedrooms. Breach Farm 
Barn is a large property with 6 bedrooms and would be most suited to a farm owner or 
manager, rather than a worker – there is no such requirement at Breach Farm. 
Bramble Cottage is considerably smaller with 2 bedrooms (but still in line with the 
average size of new build properties) but affordable within an employment package for 
a farm worker. In terms of meeting the requirements to accommodate an employed 
farm worker, it is more suitable than Breach Farm Barn. As there is still a requirement 
for two workers to be available to meet the needs of the enterprise, RAC considers 
that Bramble Cottage, and either Blackberry Cottage or the Farmhouse, are the most 
suitable to meet the needs of the farm.

6.1iv Where do the farm’s current agricultural workers live? Would the two smaller 
units still be large enough for the current agricultural workers? If vacant, are the 
two units large enough to accommodate a farm worker and a family, without the 
need for further extensions and new buildings on the site?
The farm’s current agricultural workers live in Blackberry and Bramble Cottages, and 

Page 96



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 14 December 2016

have done since they were completed as they were considered to be the most suitable 
properties to accommodate the farm workers. They are large enough for the two 
workers with their young families, and include a floor area that is commensurate or 
greater than the average of new build properties.

6.1v Are there any other planning matters that may be relevant in assessing the 
impact of removing the two conditions, and transferring them to the two smaller 
units?
RAC have advised that Blackberry and Bramble Cottages make the most suitable 
properties on the farm for accommodating employed workers as they are the closest 
residential properties to the cattle buildings.

In terms of residential amenity, farm workers are more tolerant of noise and odour 
associated with housed cattle as it is part of their job. One of the closest farm buildings 
to the dwellings includes the handling and loading pens, where the noise from cattle 
will be greatest. Loading and unloading cattle occurs during the working day and so 
the associated noise would not affect the amenity of the occupants of Bramble and 
Blackberry Cottage if they are occupied by agricultural workers; but could affect the 
amenity of non-agricultural occupiers.

The transfer of the occupancy conditions would make Breach Farmhouse and Breach 
Farm Barn available for open market sale. However, all the dwellings are very much 
part of the group of a substantial working farm, and are subject to the operational 
noise, odour and vehicle movements associated with a large, busy working livestock 
farm. None could be severed from the farm holding and spared these impacts on 
residential amenity. As such, it would be highly unlikely for any of the properties to be 
sold from the farm because the risk of a complaint on residential amenity could 
potentially restrict or even jeopardise the farm enterprise, and it would not be in the 
farm’s interest to put itself at substantial risk in this way.

RAC have concluded that this arrangement makes full economic use of the residential 
properties available which, in turn, minimises the potential for any to be sold away 
from the farm. The alternative would be to accommodate farm workers in dwellings, 
particularly Breach Farm Barn, that are beyond the remuneration of a farm worker, and 
potentially leave two dwellings unoccupied due to their proximity to the operational 
centre of a busy, large livestock farm.

6.2 Process to remove or vary a condition
6.2i The application is being made under section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990 to vary / remove conditions associated with a planning permission. 
Where an application under section 73 is granted, the effect is the issue of a new 
planning permission, sitting alongside the original permission, which remains intact 
and unamended, including all other previous conditions.

6.2ii When assessing section 73 applications the Council can only consider the original 
condition and the reasons for applying the condition; new conditions can be attached 
but only in so far as they apply to the original condition. 

6.3 Background to the application
6.3i In recent years Breach Farm has been subject to a number of planning permissions, 

as set out in section 4.1. As it currently stands the site functions as a farm and has 
permission for two agricultural workers’ dwellings, and two open market residential 
units, as follows:

 The Farmhouse: Agricultural workers dwelling approved under P10/W1125 by 
appeal, with agricultural workers condition.

Page 97

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/section/73
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/section/73


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 14 December 2016

 Breach Farm Barn: Alterations and extension to stone barn to form a dwelling 
house approved under P11/W0903, with agricultural workers condition. 

 Bramble Cottage and Blackberry Cottage: Residential change of use approved 
for 2 units by prior approval process under P14/S1278/PAR. No requirement for 
agricultural occupancy conditions as the proposal met the permitted 
development limitations and was granted approval for open market residential 
use.

The above permissions have been implemented and the four units are habitable.

6.4 Original justification for conditions
6.4i The farm lies within the green belt and is set away from any settlements. As a general 

rule, development in the green belt is normally considered to be inappropriate from the 
outset unless very special circumstances exist to override the presumption against 
such development, for example there is an agricultural need and it is essential that 
farm workers live on the site.

6.4ii In considering the appeal for The Farmhouse, the Planning Inspector took account of 
the rationale for the dwelling in preventing theft and criminal damage as well as 
bio-security, and concluded there was agricultural need for a dwelling. The evidence 
provided amounted to very special circumstances for development in the green belt 
and in a rural location. The development was only acceptable subject to a condition 
restricting the occupancy of the dwelling to someone engaged in agriculture as it was 
on this basis that the dwelling was justified in a location where normal unrestricted 
housing is strictly controlled:

The occupation of the dwelling shall be limited to a person solely or mainly working, or 
last working, in the locality in agriculture or forestry, or a widow or widower of such a 
person, and to any resident dependants.

6.4iii With regard to the application at Breach Farm Barn, the officer’s report at the time 
concluded that sufficient evidence had been submitted to establish agricultural need, 
and that conversion of a redundant rural barn to residential would have less of an 
impact on the green belt that a new building, as proposed in earlier applications. As 
above, the rationale for the building was reliant on agricultural need, and could only be 
justified with an agricultural occupancy condition.

6.5 Policy / site changes since approval
6.5i Since permission was granted for The Farmhouse and Breach Farm Barn there have 

been national and local changes to policy, namely the introduction of the National 
Planning Policy Framework, the adoption of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy, and 
relaxation of national permitted development legislation to allow conversion of 
agricultural units to residential use.

6.5ii In terms of the previously approved development and the agricultural occupancy 
conditions, current policy continues to resist development in the green belt and outside 
the built limits of settlements, unless very special circumstances exist to override the 
presumption against such development, for example there is an agricultural need and 
it is essential that farm workers live on the site. On this basis a similar proposal 
assessed in respect of current policy would still require agricultural occupancy to be 
secured by condition, if the sole justification for the development were agricultural 
need.

6.5iii Since permission was granted, the relaxation of permitted development legislation has 
allowed for the conversion of an agricultural unit on-site to two residential units as 
open market housing. Under the legislation there is no requirement for an agricultural 

Page 98



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 14 December 2016

tie to be attached to these dwellings.

6.5iv In summary the policy changes have not altered the need for agricultural occupancy 
conditions to be attached to two dwellings. The site itself has changed in that two open 
market dwellings have been provided, by conversion.

6.6 Impact of varying the condition 
6.6i The complete removal of the agricultural occupancy conditions from the site’s 

dwellings could not be supported as the justification continues to be based on the 
agricultural need established under applications P10/W1125 and P11/W0903; there 
has been no substantial change in policy substance to alter this position. However, the 
two prior approval conversions as open market housing open up the use of the site, 
and scope for the agricultural ties to be transferred.

6.6ii The transfer would result in Bramble Cottage and Blackberry Cottage (the two smaller 
dwellings) being secured for agricultural workers associated with the farm, or working 
in agriculture within the local area. The removal of the conditions would release The 
Farmhouse and Breach Farm Barn as open market housing, but retain the two 
workers’ units on-site (secured by unilateral undertaking). 

6.6iii While it is recognised that the agricultural workers’ units would be smaller than the 
existing units, the provision of accommodation continues to be available in respect of 
the agricultural need, and there is no prescribed size for such units. The larger 
residential units are existing buildings and would have no greater impact on the 
openness of the green belt in terms of their scale, and given the principle of open 
market residential housing (2 units) was found to be acceptable through the prior 
approval process. The removal of the conditions would not allow for additional 
residential units over and above existing, or release the agricultural workers’ tie 
currently associated with the site.

6.6iv The removal of the agricultural occupancy conditions on The Farmhouse and Breach 
Farm Barn would have no greater impact than existing, as long as the agricultural tie is 
transferred and secured to Bramble Cottage and Blackberry Cottage. A unilateral 
undertaking has been drawn up (September 2016) and would form part of the 
approval requirements, if permission were to be granted.

6.7 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) liability 
The council’s CIL charging schedule has been adopted and applies to residential 
proposals from 1 April 2016. CIL is a planning charge that local authorities can 
implement to help deliver infrastructure and to support the development of their area, 
and is primarily calculated on the increase in footprint created as a result of the 
development. The CIL charge applies to new build residential development. In respect 
of both applications, the residential footprints were approved and implemented prior to 
the introduction of the CIL charge. 

The removal and transfer of the agricultural occupancy tie would not result in any 
additional residential floorspace, and the CIL charge does not apply.

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 Your officers recommend that planning permission is granted because the proposed 

development is considered to be acceptable for the following reasons:

7.1ii The removal of the agricultural occupancy conditions on The Farmhouse and Breach 
Farm Barn would have no greater impact than existing, subject to the agricultural tie 
being transferred and secured to Bramble Cottage and Blackberry Cottage. The 

Page 99



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 14 December 2016

provision of accommodation for two units continues to be available in respect of the 
agricultural need, and the principle of two open market units on site was established 
through the prior approval process. The removal of the conditions would not allow for 
additional residential units over and above existing, or release the agricultural workers’ 
tie currently associated with the site, or have any greater impact on the openness of the 
green belt.

Subject to conditions, the proposal accords with the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2012) and National Planning Practice Guidance (2014), South Oxfordshire 
Core Strategy (2012), South Oxfordshire Local Plan (Saved policies, 2011) and the 
South Oxfordshire Design Guide (2016).

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 To grant planning permission subject to the unilateral undertaking signed 

September 2016, and the following advisory notes:

P16/S2292/FUL
Conditions

1. No conditions.

Informatives
1. Following the removal of condition 9, the applicant is advised that all other 

conditions on P10/W1125 continue to apply.

P16/S2293/FUL
Conditions

1. No conditions.

Informatives
1. Following the removal of condition 5, the applicant is advised that all other 

conditions on P11/W0903 continue to apply.

Author: Katherine Canavan
Contact No: 01235 422600
Email: planning@southoxon.gov.uk

Page 100

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S2293/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S2293/FUL


Appendix 1

Page 101

Agenda Item 12P16/S2292/FUL and P16/S2293/FUL

CanavanK
Textbox
        Applications P16/S2292/FUL         and P16S2293/FUL

CanavanK_1
Textbox



Residential change of use approved for 2 units by prior approval 
process under P14/51278/PAR.  Proposal to move agricultural 
workers restrictions to Bramble Cottage and Blackberry Cottage

Alterations and extension to stone barn to form a dwellinghouse approved 
under P11/W0903, with agricultural workers condition. Proposal to remove 
agricultural workers restriction from Breach Farm Barn

Agricultural workers dwelling approved under P10/W1125 by appeal, with 
agricultural workers condition. Proposal to remove agricultural workers 
restriction from The Farmhouse

P16/S2292/FUL & 
P16/S2293/FUL

Breach Farm 
Wheatley Road 
Stanton St John 
OX33 1FG

Appendix 2

P
age 102



Page 103



Page 104



[He left]

Page 105



Page 106



Page 107



Page 108



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 14 December 2016

APPLICATION NO. P16/S3587/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 27.10.2016
PARISH Ewelme
WARD MEMBER(S) Felix Bloomfield

Richard Pullen
APPLICANT Mr and Miss PS and JS Dixon
SITE Land adjacent to Eyres Lane and Eyres Close, 

Eyres Close, Ewelme, OX10 6LA
PROPOSAL Change of use of land for siting of up to five 

residential caravans
AMENDMENTS None
GRID REFERENCE 463954/192007
OFFICER Katherine Canavan

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 The application has been referred to the Planning Committee because the Chairman 

of the Planning Committee is a neighbour to the site.

1.2 The site sits to the north side of Eyres Close within the Chilterns Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty, and comprises an area of 0.13 ha. It was cleared of all vegetation and 
the topsoil mound in Summer 2016, setting the ground level in line with street level. 
Residential properties within Eyres Close are located to the south of the site; ‘The 
Views’ is located to the north; Eyres Lane runs along the western boundary of the site, 
beyond which is open countryside. A Location plan of the site is attached at Appendix 
1.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 The applicant seeks full planning permission to change the use of the site to residential 

use, for siting of up to five residential caravans.

2.2 The block plan accompanying the application is attached at Appendix 2. Full 
application details and consultation responses are available for inspection on the 
Council’s website at www.southoxon.gov.uk.

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1

Ewelme Parish 
Council

Object:
 A caravan site would be inappropriate in the AONB as 

it would neither conserve nor enhance the natural 
beauty, nor protect the local character

 Contrary to policies H15 and CSR1
 The design of the development is not in keeping with its 

surroundings, and would adversely affect the character 
of the area.

 Recommend a meeting with the developer to discuss a 
development proposal which is acceptable to all parties

Health & Housing – 
Contaminated Land

No comment:
Insufficient information to comment on level of risk, or 
remediation strategy

Page 109

Agenda Item 13

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S3587/FUL
http://elements.sodc.com:8081/PlanningOfficerModule2/consulteecomment?application=P16/S3587/FUL&consulteeNo=3
http://elements.sodc.com:8081/PlanningOfficerModule2/consulteecomment?application=P16/S3587/FUL&consulteeNo=3


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 14 December 2016

Health & Housing – 
Env. Protection Team

No strong views:
Mobile home site licence required

Neighbour representations – 22 Objections received

Residential 
development

 Other larger villages provide better locations for residential 
accommodation

 Further pressure on a small village, and overdevelopment on a 
small plot

 Opening up the opportunity for future residential development
 Permanent affordable housing preferable to mobile units to keep 

the small population a vibrant and thriving community. 
 Need for affordable housing in a poorly connection village is 

questionable

Character 
and 
landscape

 Harm to AONB, landscape character and loss of screening 
between the built edge of the village and open countryside

 Harm to character of an old village
 A caravan park would be incongruous in character with the 

adjacent built residential area – inappropriate design and 
materials

 Proposed hedging insufficient to screen units or offset the adverse 
visual impact – poor vision splays and out of keeping boundary 
design with existing close

 Impact on long reaching views across the district by inappropriate 
development

Parking and 
highways

 Increased impact on traffic and parking
 Pressure on parking and infrastructure, and increased congestion
 Highway safety – more vehicles accessing Eyres Lane which is 

used by large heavy vehicles and as a rat-run
 Hazard to pedestrians and walkers

Mobile units  Poor amenity and outdoor space for mobile home occupiers
 Limited lifespan of units, and loss of unit value means it is 

inappropriate as a stepping stone to the housing market
 Minimal positive impact on the manufacturing industry
 Lack of information of dimensions, scale, layout of units

Trees and 
open space

 Loss of trees and ecology of the site – very few other open 
spaces remaining in the village

 Lack of available space to incorporate quality landscaping onto 
the site

 Condition on original application requires retention of the mound

Drainage  Increased pressure on drainage and soul water systems – the 
introduction of hardstanding for the mobile units will increase 
surface run off onto the existing properties

Page 110



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 14 December 2016

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 Background to the development site

 May 2016 - P15/S3649/O - Outline permission granted at appeal for 2 dwellings 
 June 2016 - P16/S0984/LDE - Lawful Development Certificate issued for the 

storage of topsoil on the site
 August 2016 – topsoil removed form site, setting the ground level in line with 

street level 
 October 2016 - Reserved Matters application for two semi-detached dwellings 

refused at Planning Committee.
 October 2016 – Current application submitted for 5 mobile homes
 November 2016 – Work carried out to trees along the boundary with The Views, 

reducing the height of the hedge.

4.2 Planning history
P16/S2114/RM – Refused (05/10/2016)
Reserved Matters application following Outline (P15/S3649/O) for two semi-detached 
dwellings 

P16/S0984/LDE - Approved (06/06/2016)
Open Storage Of Topsoil Not Exceeding 4000 Tonnes

P15/S3649/O - Refused (20/01/2016) - Approved on appeal (23/05/2016)
Outline application for removal of a stored topsoil mound to facilitate the re-contouring 
the site to a land form that will approximate with the original ground levels, erection of 
two starter homes, restoration of north boundary brick and flint wall and  
implementation of a scheme of landscaping and landscape repair. (Additional 
statement submitted by applicant 21 December 2015 to address third party comments).

P15/S0128/O - Withdrawn (08/04/2015)
Outline application for removal of existing topsoil mound.  Restoration of north 
boundary brick and flint wall and erection of 2x2 bedroom starter homes. (As clarified 
by contaminated Land Questionnaire received on 19 February 2015).

P01/W0006 - Refused (05/03/2001) - Refused on appeal (19/07/2001)
Erection of dwelling with integral garage.

[series of residential applications]

P77/W0308 - Approved (13/01/1978)
Erection of eight detached houses, garages and access for the stationing of six 
caravans.

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy policies

CSEN1  -  Landscape protection (AONB)
CSQ3  -  Design
CSR1 - Housing in villages

5.2 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 policies
C4  -  Landscape setting of settlements
D1  -  Principles of good design
D2  -  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3  -  Outdoor amenity area

Page 111

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S2114/RM
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S0984/LDE
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P15/S3649/O
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P15/S0128/O
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P01/W0006
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P77/W0308


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 14 December 2016

D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
D10  -  Waste Management
EP1 - Risk from contaminats and pollutants
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

5.3 South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016

5.4 National Planning Policy Framework
 Paragraph 115
 Paragraph 121

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The key planning considerations in determining the application are:

 Principle of residential land use for siting mobile homes
 Impact on the character and appearance of the surrounding area
 Landscape impact on the AONB
 Contamination risk
 Additional matters

6.2 Principle of residential land use for siting mobile homes

Policy H15 of the SOLP requires that proposals are determined in line with housing 
policies in the plan, and permission will only be given for single residential caravans or 
mobile homes in exceptional circumstances on a temporary and personal basis.

In establishing the principle of residential development on the site, consideration is 
given to policies CSR1 of the SOCS and H4 of the SOLP. With reference to the 2015 
appeal decision [APP/Q3115/W/16/3144384] (development set in from Eyres Lane 
and screened by orchard), the inspector concluded:

8. Policy CSR1 of the Core Strategy allows for infill development where sites are 
closely surrounded by buildings and the Council have not disputed that this is an 
infill site. The proposed dwellings would appear as an entirely reasonable addition 
to this already substantially developed scene, and would not be an intrusion into 
open countryside. The scheme would not conflict with Core Strategy Policy CSR1.

Although the proposed residential area is larger than the previously proposed 
residential area plus orchard, the whole site continues to be within the built limits of 
Ewelme, and is closely surrounded by buildings, and is largely characterised by the 
built scene, rather than extending into the countryside. For these reasons the principle 
of residential development on the site is acceptable.

6.3 Impact on the character and appearance of the surrounding area
6.3i Policy H4 of the SOLP allows for residential development in the built areas of villages, 

as long as: 
i) an important open space of public, environmental or ecological value is not lost, 

nor an important public view spoilt;
The site is a private area of land, which has been cleared of vegetation and 
levelled. Development of the site would not involve the loss of an important open 
space, or an area of environmental or ecological value. With regard to the 2015 
appeal decision, the inspector concluded:

Page 112



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 14 December 2016

5. The houses of Eyres Close together with the house and outbuildings of The 
Views have the effect of isolating the site from the open countryside and in 
consequence its relationship with the wider landscape and the older part of 
Ewelme is weak.

As such, development of the site would not result in an important view being 
spoilt.

iv) there are no overriding amenity, environmental or highway objections; 
Amenity, environmental and highway considerations are addressed in section 6.6.

v) if the proposal constitutes backland development, it would not create problems of 
privacy and access and would not extend the built limits of the settlement.
The site does not constitute backland development.

6.3ii However, points ii) and iii) of policy H4 set out that housing is permitted as long as the 
design, height, scale and materials of the proposed development are in keeping with 
its surroundings, and the character of the area is not adversely affected. These 
principles are amplified by the design policies of the Development Plan – D1 of the 
SOLP and CSQ3 of the SOCS, which require development to respond positively and 
respect the character of the site and its surroundings.

6.3iii While there is mix of residential styles, periods and domestic detailing seen across the 
village of Ewelme, the proposed use as a mobile home site is considered to jar in 
character and appearance to the built character of Eyres Close. The close is seen as a 
contained residential area, which is bordered by brick built properties to the south and 
the residential dwelling ‘The Views’ to the north. Because of the relatively tight 
arrangement of the dwellings on Eyres Close (within the small grouping of dwellings 
on the north-western point of Ewelme), the change of use would be incongruous with 
the immediate area. The design of mobile units, materials and layout, as well as the 
overall character of the site, would be unable to draw from the vernacular of the close. 
Furthermore, the location of the site as part of Eyres Close and without any form of 
detachment or separation, would further highlight the “disconnect” between the 
general pattern of the residential street and the site, as a result of the proposed 
change in use.

6.4 Landscape impact on the AONB
6.4i The village of Ewelme (including the site) and land to the east of Eyres Lane falls 

within the AONB. Land to the west of the lane is open countryside but is not within the 
AONB. In terms of assessing the impact of the development on the sensitive 
landscape character of the AONB, the appeal inspector concluded:

5. The site lies in the AONB, but its character and location have much more 
affinity with the post-war cul-de-sac development of Eyres Close than with the 
wider landscape. …The site does not contribute towards the essential character 
or beauty of the landscape, the village scene or the AONB.

6.4ii It should, however, be noted that the inspector made reference to vegetation and 
planting mitigating the impact of the housing development and to serve as screening, 
but essentially felt that the development would be seen within the built setting of the 
close, already visible from beyond the site: 

6. Most views of the development except for those within or immediately adjacent 
to the cul-de-sac would be filtered by vegetation or seen in conjunction with other 

Page 113



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 14 December 2016

development. In consequence the scheme would not appear to extend the village 
any further into the countryside. There is open land on the other side of Eyre’s 
Lane, but from that direction the proposed houses would be seen in the context of 
other village buildings, and the scheme would retain sufficient land for planting 
which would in due course screen the development.

6.4iii While the current proposal does not have the extent of screening as proposed by the 
orchard in the 2015/16 scheme, the bund provides a good level of screening and there 
is space for landscaping along the western boundary (through a landscaping 
condition) to soften the built form of the development and retain some separation with 
the open countryside. This level of landscaping is sufficient to respond to the low level 
of impact identified in the inspector’s report. For these reasons the proposed 
development could not be said to detract from the landscape or scenic beauty of the 
wider AONB.

6.5 Contamination risk
6.5i The site is identified as being in a former use that has the potential to give rise to 

contaminants. Para. 121 of the NPPF requires that a development site is suitable for 
its new use taking account of ground conditions… including pollution arising from 
previous uses, … and adequate site investigation information, prepared by a 
competent person, is presented. This is reinforced by policy EP1 of the SOLP.

6.5ii The application involves a particularly vulnerable use (residential) and no appropriate 
contamination assessment has been provided.  In the absence of even an initial 
assessment, it is not possible to assess whether the risk is low, or whether it is of a 
level that could be overcome through mitigation or by condition. For this reason the 
Contamination Officer has recommended that an assessment is carried out in the form 
of a contaminated land preliminary risk assessment. No further information has been 
provided to demonstrate that this issue has been overcome, or that a remediation 
strategy is in place to address the concerns. The application is recommended for 
refusal on these grounds.

6.6 Additional matters

6.6i Residential amenity
The proposed use of the site would involve single storey units only, separated from 
existing dwellings at a distance of 20m+ by the highway. Even though the existing 
dwellings are set down at a lower level, the application site has been levelled in recent 
months, and the relationship between the mobile units and dwellings would not result 
in loss of privacy or overlooking.

The scale of the units (by virtue of the Caravan Act which specifies the maximum 
dimensions of units) would not result in an overbearing or enclosed relationship with 
neighbouring dwellings or habitable rooms.

6.6ii Tree protection and landscaping
The trees and hedging along the boundary of the site are not of sufficient arboricultural 
merit or maturity to be able to safeguard against their loss, and it is recognised that 
work has been carried out to the trees during the life of the application without any 
breach of legislation or condition. Given the distance to The Views to the rear, and that 
the units are single storey only, there are insufficient grounds to insist on the hedge 
being retained for amenity reasons.

As set out in 6.4, there is however a requirement for natural screening and boundary 
hedging to screen the developed area of Eyres Close from the open countryside, and 

Page 114



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 14 December 2016

to soften the visual impact of the site. 

6.6iii Parking, highways and access
The application site has been laid out to have its access onto the turning head at the 
end of Eyres Close. This area is required to be kept clear to allow space for turning. 
The creation of an access would maintain the ‘openness’ of the turning head, and 
continue to allow it to be used for its existing purpose. This aspect of the proposal 
does not raise highways concerns.

The proposal is for a maximum of 5 mobile units as permanent accommodation. 
Therefore the noise associated with the residential use would amount to that of 5 
households, rather than continuous introducing regular on/off site movement of 
caravans into a residential setting. On this basis, the impact on the amenity of 
occupants would be no different to that of a residential street, and would not result in 
noise disturbance.

In terms of the impact of 5 households, and associated vehicles and parking, 
insufficient information has been provided to assess the actual impact on the street. 
However, it is noted that it is a small, residential street where vehicles move at low 
speeds, and the introduction of 5 households could be accommodated without 
significant harm to highway safety or congestion to the highway network. Additional 
information should be provided to demonstrate traffic movements, and to demonstrate 
that the development would not adversely affect the highway.

The mobile home licence sets out strict requirements for how parking is managed 
on-site, and separation distances to units. The ‘Caravan Sites And Control of 
Development Act’ provides appropriate measures and control over the site to ensure 
sufficient parking is provided and maintained without impacting on the wider area.

6.6iv Community infrastructure Levy
The council’s CIL charging schedule was adopted in 2016. CIL is a planning charge 
that local authorities can implement to help deliver infrastructure and to support the 
development of their area, and is primarily calculated on the increase in residential 
floor space created as a result of the development. The CIL charge, applied to new 
build residential development, is £150 per square metre outside the areas of Didcot or 
Berinsfield. 

In this case the proposal involves the change of use of the land only, and the siting of 
mobile units (where the dimensions meet the dimensions of The Caravan Act) involves 
no operational development, e.g., the introduction of permanent buildings, washrooms, 
garages etc. No new residential floor space would be created and therefore CIL does 
not apply.

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 Your officers recommend that planning permission is refused on the following grounds:

 Incongruous with the character and appearance of surrounding residential area
 Absence of information to rule out contamination risk (vulnerable use)

Page 115



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 14 December 2016

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 To refuse planning permission for the following reasons.

1. The Development Plan allows for the provision of mobile home sites where 
they accord with the housing policies of the Development Plan. Saved policy 
H4 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan sets out that housing is permitted as 
longs as the design, height, scale and materials of the proposed 
development are in keeping with its surroundings, and the character of the 
area is not adversely affected. This is amplified by the design policies of the 
Development Plan.

Within the tightly contained residential street of Eyres Close, the character 
of a mobile home site would appear incongruous in close proximity to the 
brick built dwellings in a village setting. The development would be unable 
to draw from the vernacular of the close through the provision of a mobile 
home site.  By reason of the harm to and incompatibility with the character 
of the immediate area, the development is contrary to saved policies D1, H4 
and H15 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan and policy CSQ3 of the South 
Oxfordshire Core Strategy.

2.  Paragraph 121 of the NPPF requires that a development site is suitable for its 
new use, taking account of ground conditions including pollution arising 
from previous uses, and adequate site investigation information is presented.

    The site is identified as being in a former use that has the potential to give 
rise to contaminants, and the proposal involves a particularly vulnerable use 
(residential). The absence of information on contamination risk fails to 
address the level of risk associated with the site or provide effective 
mitigation, and no remedial strategy has been presented.  On these grounds 
the development is contrary to paragraph 121 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework and policy EP1 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan.

Author: Katherine Canavan
Contact No: 01235 422600
Email: planning@southoxon.gov.uk

Page 116



Appendix 1

P
age 117

A
genda Item

 13
P

16/S
3587/FU

L



Appendix 2

Page 118



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 14 December 2016

APPLICATION NO. P16/S2811/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 17.8.2016
PARISH Nuffield
WARD MEMBERS David Nimmo-Smith

Charles Bailey
APPLICANT Mr Darren Coope
SITE Land on the north side of the A4130 near Oakley 

Wood, Springfield Park, Nuffield
PROPOSAL Creation of a new vehicular access (retrospective) 

(As amended by location/block plan and technical 
note attached to the agent's email dated 17 October 
2016).

AMENDMENTS As above
GRID REFERENCE 465152/188822
OFFICER Rob Cramp

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 The application has been submitted following an enforcement investigation 

(SE16/287) into the unauthorised creation of an access onto a classified road without 
planning permission. The application seeks part retrospective planning permission for 
the retention of the newly created access, with proposed modifications to comply with 
the requirements of the local highway authority. 

1.2 The application is referred to the planning committee for decision as the officer’s 
recommendation differs from that of the Parish Council.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 The proposed access is to a parcel of land having an area of approximately 0.25 ha. It 

is situated in the open countryside in the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
(AONB). It is on the northern side of the A4130 approximately midway between 
Wallingford and Nuffield (see location plan attached as Appendix A). 

2.2 The application site is a remnant parcel of agricultural land with no current use. The 
boundaries of the site are defined by open post and wire fencing of agricultural 
character and appearance.  It is surrounded on all sides by open agricultural fields in 
different ownership. The north eastern boundary is adjoined by an unmade track on the 
neighbouring agricultural property which also serves as a public footpath. The land has 
recently been cleared of vegetation and an access onto the A4130 created 
approximately midway along its highway frontage. According to the applicant the 
access is required for purposes of maintenance of the land only. The A4130 is 
described by the local highway authority as being a busy and fast classified road.

2.3 The application also provides for the erection of a gate at the entrance to the site 
and the laying of a metalled surface from the edge of the carriageway to the gated 
entrance.

2.4 The application is supported by a Technical Note prepared by a transport consultant (i-
Transport) addressing highway safety issues within an assessment area extending 
750m either side of the application site. The findings of the Technical Note can be 
summarised as follows:

 there are two similar accesses in close proximity, which serve slow moving 
agricultural vehicles in connection with agricultural lands on either side of the 

Page 119

Agenda Item 14

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S2811/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 14 December 2016

application site;
 there have been no injury accidents within the assessment area in the past 5 

years notwithstanding the presence of these other accesses;
 the proposed access has sufficient width (5.5m) for two large vehicles to pass;
 visibility splays (2.4m x 215m) compliant with highway design requirements are 

capable of being provided;
 a proposed gate at the entrance to the site will be set back 9.0m from the edge 

of the highway to allow sufficient space for a maintenance vehicle with trailer to 
turn off the highway and park before opening the gate;

 swept path analysis demonstrate adequate manoeuvring space to and from the 
highway; and

 expected traffic generation for purposes of maintenance only are expected to 
be low.

The overall conclusion of the transport consultant is that “the proposed access delivers 
safe access to the site in accordance with design standards”.

2.5 A copy of the plans accompanying the application is attached as Appendix B. Other
documentation associated with the application can be viewed on the council’s website 
at www.southoxon.gov.uk.

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Nuffield Parish Council – Objects for the following reasons:

 a deemed application for vehicular access to this site was rejected in an appeal 
decision in 1979;

 the road has become busier since the above application was refused;
 5 year accident record insufficient for assessment of highway safety;
 8 fatal accidents have occurred in past 10 years on A4130 within 1 mile either 

side of the application site;
 loss of wildlife haven with the recent clearance of the land;
 land not big enough for a small holding and therefore no requirement for access;
 other existing accesses in the area are essential to agricultural use of adjoining 

lands; and
 the adjoining accesses resulted in a fatality about 10 years ago.

3.2 Highways Liaison Officer (Oxfordshire County Council) – Approve subject to conditions 
for the following reasons:

 visibility splays are to be provided in accordance with recognised standards;
 access gate is to be set back sufficient distance to allow vehicles to pull off 

highway clear of carriageway;
 access proposed for maintenance only, which will likely result in a low number 

of movements;
 proposal is unlikely to have significant adverse impacts on the  highway network 

or cause “severe harm” as referred to in the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

3.3 Neighbours – Two letters of Objection for the following reasons:
 very dangerous and fast section of road;
 the road is even more dangerous than when a similar application for access was 

refused in 1979;
 a fatality occurred on the adjacent road in 2003;
 5 year accident record insufficient to assess highway safety risk;
 a fatal accident occurred on the A4130 not more than 3 months ago less than a 

mile from the application site;
 a dip in the road creates blind spot.

Page 120

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 14 December 2016

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 On 20 January 1972 the council refused a planning application (P71/H0854) for a 

proposed cottage and small holding, including the creation of an access. The 
application was refused on the basis of the adverse impact on the landscape, 
countryside and highway safety.

4.2 On 8 July 1974 the council refused a planning application (P74/S0028/O) for the 
erection of a cottage, including access. The application was refused on the basis that it 
was contrary to general planning policy and would adversely impact on the landscape, 
countryside and highway safety.

4.3 On 18 April 1977 the council refused a planning application (P77/S0162) for vehicular 
access to the site for agricultural purposes. The application was refused for highway 
safety reasons.

4.4 On 19 April 1977 the council issued a planning enforcement notice (76265) to require 
the closure of an unauthorised access onto the site. The notice was complied with.

4.5 In April 1979 the council issued a series of 5 separate enforcement notices (78293, 
79100, 79101, 79102 and 79103) relating to various breaches of planning control 
including:

 use of land for the housing and exercising of dogs (P79/S0382/DA);
 erection of dog runs (P79/S0383/DA);
 stationing of a caravan (P79/S0384/DA);
 erection of two buildings (P79/S0385/DA); and
 formation of a vehicular access (P79/S0386/DA).

All of the enforcement notices were subsequently upheld on appeal in a decision dated 
19 September 1980. The enforcement notices were all complied with.

4.6 In November 1982 the council issued a series of 5 separate enforcement notices 
(80237C, 80237D, 82032A, 82032B and 82032E) relating to various breaches of 
planning control including:

 unauthorised building operations,
 use of the land for the siting of various structures;
 use of land for storage of derelict vehicles, scrap appliances, discarded furniture 

and furniture;
 use of the land for residential accommodation;
 use of building as a single dwelling house.

The enforcement notices were all complied with.

4.7 On 13 June 2016 the council commenced an enforcement investigation (SE16/287) into 
the creation of the current access without planning permission. The current application 
now seeks to regularise this breach of planning control.

4.8 On 15 November 2016 the council commenced an enforcement investigation 
(SE16/577) into the depositing of spoil and undertaking of earthworks on the site 
without planning permission.

Page 121



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 14 December 2016

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) policies;

CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSEN1  -  Landscape protection

5.2 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP) policies;
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
G4  -  Protection of Countryside
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users

5.3 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and Practice Guidance

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The main issues to be considered in the assessment of the current application are:

 highway safety impacts;
 impacts on the countryside and landscape of the AONB; and
 other material considerations.

Highway Safety
6.2 Policy T1 of the SOLP states that proposals for all types of development will, where 

appropriate, provide safe and convenient access to the highway network. This is 
consistent with government guidance contained in the NPPF which states that planning 
decisions should take account of whether safe and suitable access can be achieved for 
all people.

6.3 Objectors to the current proposal, including the Parish Council, have referred to 
previous decisions by the council to refuse planning permission for the creation of an 
access to this site for highway safety reasons. This occurred in 1972, 1974, 1977, and 
1979. It is worthy of note, however, that in most of these cases the proposed creation of 
the access coincided with the development and use of the site for a variety of other 
purposes to which there were planning objections. In the circumstances of the current 
case, however, the access is proposed to facilitate the maintenance of the land only. 

6.4 Much has also changed in terms of planning policy since those decisions to refuse 
planning permission for an access to the site were taken back in the 1970's. The 
introduction of the NPPF and the related Practice Guidance is perhaps the most 
significant change. Under the NPPF the relevant test for assessing whether the residual 
transport impacts of a development are sufficient to warrant refusal, is if those impacts 
are likely to be “severe”. The local highway authority has assessed the current proposal 
and advised that it is unlikely to have a significant adverse impact on the highway 
network. The reasons unpinning this advice are outline in the highway authority’s 
submission which is summarised in paragraph 3.2 above.

6.5 Objectors have also questioned the adequacy of the transport consultant’s analysis of 
the injury and accident record over a period of 5 years only, in his assessment of 
highway safety issues. Objectors refer to various accidents that they are aware of 
covering a period of 10 and more years. The consultant’s 5 year analysis, however, is 
entirely consistent with government guidance as specifically referred to within the NPPF 
Practice Guidance notes. The adequacy of this analysis has also been confirmed by 
the local highway authority.

6.6 Objectors to this proposal are rightly concerned about the highway safety impacts 
relating to the creation of a vehicular access onto a fast moving and busy section of 
country highway. However, the highway safety implications of not allowing a safe 
means of access to the site should also be of concern to the council in its assessment 
of this proposal. The inability of the owner to safely enter the site by a properly 

Page 122



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 14 December 2016

constructed access complying with relevant highway standards could represent an 
even greater danger to highway safety. This remains true even if the access is only 
required for purposes of periodic maintenance of the land, which is not an 
unreasonable expectation by the owner.

6.7 The proposed development is therefore compliant with Policy T1 of the SOLP and 
government guidance contained in the NPPF relating to the appropriate assessment of 
transport impacts of the development.

Countryside, Landscape and AONB
6.8 Policy CSEN1 of the SOCS seeks to protect the district’s landscape character against 

inappropriate development, with particular priority being given to conserving and 
enhancing AONBs. This is consistent with the NPPF which places great weight on 
conserving the landscape and scenic beauty of AONBs. Policy G2 of the SOLP seeks 
to protect the district’s countryside from adverse development; and Policy G4 seeks to 
protect the countryside for its own sake.

6.9 The current application relates to the creation of a highway access to the land for 
purposes of maintenance only. This involves a minor realignment of the existing fence 
line, the installation of a gate and the grading and laying of a metalled surface from the 
edge of the highway to the gated point of entry. Some cutting back of vegetation on the 
eastern approach to the site will also be required in order to maintain an appropriate 
vision splay.

6.10 The extent of these works, however, has not and will not result in any significant impact 
on the character or appearance of the countryside, the landscape or the scenic beauty 
of the AONB.

Other Material Considerations
6.11 The creation of the access, which is the subject of the current application, has 

coincided with recent works undertaken by the owner to clear the land of all existing 
vegetation. The application site, however, is not subject to a tree preservation order 
and the clearance of the site by the owner did not require planning permission and did 
not constitute a breach of planning control. These works therefore have no relevance to 
the assessment of the current application for the creation of an access for purposes of 
maintenance of the land only. The Parish Council’s objection to the current application 
on the basis of the loss of wildlife habitat is therefore also of no relevance to the current 
application.

6.12 During the course of the assessment of the current application an enforcement 
investigation (SE16/577) has commenced into the depositing of spoil and undertaking 
of earthworks on the site without planning permission. This investigation will run its 
course and, if a breach of planning control is found to have occurred, the impacts of 
that breach will be assessed against the relevant planning policies and appropriate 
action taken. The Planning Committee, however, should resist being influenced in its 
assessment of the current application by the knowledge that the site is currently being 
investigated for other alleged breaches of planning control. The Planning Committee 
should limit its consideration to the matter which is the subject of the current 
application, namely the creation of an access for the purposes of maintaining the land 
only.

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 The proposed creation of a highway access to the application site is compliant with 

relevant polices and government guidance relating to the impacts of the development 
on highway safety, the countryside, the landscape and the AONB.

Page 123



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 14 December 2016

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 To grant planning permission subject to the following conditions and advisory note:

1. That the development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance 
with the details shown on location and block plan drawing No.161404-01 
Revision B, except as controlled or modified by conditions of this 
permission.

Reason: To secure the proper planning of the area in accordance with 
Development Plan policies.

2. Within three months of the grant of this permission the proposed means of 
access onto the A4130 is to be fully formed and laid out and constructed 
strictly in accordance with the local highway authority's specifications and 
all ancillary works specified shall be undertaken.

Reason: In the interest of highway safety in accordance with policy T1 of the 
South Oxfordshire Local Plan.

3. Within three months of the grant of this permission the proposed vision 
splay shall be formed, laid out and constructed in accordance with detailed 
plans which shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority and the vision splays shall not be obstructed by any 
object, structure, planting or other material with a height exceeding or 
growing above 0.6 metres as measured from carriageway level.

Reason:  In the interest of highway safety in accordance with policy T1 of the 
South Oxfordshire Local Plan.

4. Any gates provided shall be set back a minimum of 9.0 metres from the edge 
of the carriageway and shall open inwards into the site. The details of the 
gates and related fencing proposed to be installed in connection with the 
creation of the access, of an open agricultural design and appearance, shall 
be submitted to and approved by the local planning authority prior to 
installation. Thereafter the gate and fence shall be maintained as approved 
except with the permission of the local planning authority, notwithstanding 
the provisions of Schedule 2, Part 2, Class A of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development Order) 2015 (or any Order revoking 
or re-enacting that Order). 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and the visual amenity of the 
countryside, landscape and Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty in 
accordance with policies G2, G4 and T1 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 
and policy CSEN1 of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy.

Advisory - No permission is given or implied for any development within the site 
beyond the entrance gate, including the creation of any hardstanding or all 
weather surface, for which separate planning permission is required.

Author:         Rob Cramp
Email:           Planning@southandvale.gov.uk
Telephone:   01235 422600

Page 124



01/12/2016 GIS Print

http://arcgisweb.southandvale.net/intranet/jointgis/1.42/asp/print.asp?class=A4Portrait&imageurl=http://arcgisweb.southandvale.net/arcgis/rest/dir… 1/1

Appendix A

Page 125

Agenda Item 14P16/S2811/FUL



Appendix B

P
age 126



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 14 December 2016

APPLICATION NO. P16/S2623/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 2.8.2016
PARISH Henley-on-Thames
WARD MEMBERS Joan Bland

Stefan Gawrysiak
Lorraine Hillier

APPLICANT Edwards
SITE White Lodge, Normanstead, Henley-on-Thames, 

RG9 1XR
PROPOSAL Variation of Condition 10 of Planning Permission 

P15/S1166/FUL, to revise the landscaping proposal 
(as amended by further revised boundary treatment 
plan received 03 October 2016).

AMENDMENTS As above
OFFICER Simon Kitson

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 This application has been referred to the Planning Committee as the officers’ 

recommendation conflicts with the views of the local ward member and Henley Town 
Council. 

1.2 The application property (which is shown on the OS extract attached as Appendix A) 
comprises a recently erected, detached, two storey dwelling set within a plot of 
approximately 0.13ha. The site does not fall within a designated area. 

1.3 Planning permission for the new build was granted by the area planning committee in 
2015, under application ref: P15/S1166/FUL. The approval was subject to a number of 
conditions, which included the permanent retention of a number of trees at the site 
boundaries and the provision of tree protection measures during the course of the 
construction works.  Condition 10 of the decision notice states:-

Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, all existing 
hedges and trees shown to be retained, at the south-east boundary with Rose 
Cottage and the south-west boundary with the properties at The Close, shall 
be preserved and properly maintained at a height of at least 5m from the 
ground level at White Lodge. In the event of any of the trees dying or being 
seriously damaged or destroyed, a new tree or equivalent number of trees, as 
the case may be, of a species first approved by the Local Planning Authority, 
shall be planted and properly maintained in a position or positions first 
approved by the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason: In the interests of neighbouring amenity and to safeguard trees and 
other vegetation which are visually important, in accordance with Policy CSQ3 
of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy 2027 and Policies D4, G2, C9 and D1 
of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011.

1.4 A copy of the previously approved plans and decision notice is attached as Appendix 
B. 

Page 127

Agenda Item 15

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S2623/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P15/S1166/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 14 December 2016

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 This application follows the subsequent removal of the trees by the developer, in 

breach of the planning condition. As detailed in the application submission, consent is 
now sought for the variation of Condition 10 of the previous approval, to allow for a 
replacement planting scheme.
 

2.2 Following a number of revisions, the applicant proposed 8 Quercus Ilex (Oak) at the 
south-west boundary with the properties at The Close; and 13 Phyllastachys Aurea 
(Bamboo) at the south-east boundary with Rose Cottage. This planting scheme 
commenced in November.  

2.3 A copy of the final proposed planting scheme is attached as Appendix C. The 
consultation responses and supporting documentation can be viewed on the council’s 
website at: www.southoxon.co.uk

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Henley-on-Thames Town Council – Objection (all revisions)

Forestry Officer (South Oxfordshire District Council) - No objection to the proposed 
planting schemes. The boundary treatment will strike an acceptable
balance between providing the necessary screening whilst achieving the most
usable garden space for the future occupants of the new dwelling, provided that it is 
properly maintained.

Neighbour Objections (6)
 The applicants should provide the same boundary treatment which existed prior 

to the construction works
 Significant concerns raised over privacy and overlooking. Conifer trees should 

be planted with a 5m minimum height
 Bamboo would be acceptable at the Rose cottage boundary, only if it is 

maintained effectively as a hedge and provides a dense screening
 The proposed planting at the boundary with the properties at The close is only 

acceptable if the trees are maintained at a height of 5/6m from the ground level 
at the neighbouring property.

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P16/S0356/FUL - Withdrawn (09/05/2016)

Variation of Condition 10 Landscaping on application ref. P15/S1166/FUL

P15/S1166/FUL - Approved (01/07/2015)
Demolition of existing dwelling and erection of new house and garage

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 The Joint Henley and Harpsden Neighbourhood Plan (JHHNP) policies; 

H4 – Infill and self build dwellings
DQS1 – Local character

5.2 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) policies;

CSHEN1  -  The Strategy for Henley-on-Thames
CSQ3  -  Design
CSS1  -  The Overall Strategy

Page 128

http://www.southoxon.co.uk/
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S0356/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P15/S1166/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 14 December 2016

5.3 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011(SOLP) policies;

C8  -  Adverse affect on protected species
C9  -  Loss of landscape features
CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
D1  -  Principles of good design
D3  -  Outdoor amenity area
D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
H4  -  Housing sites in towns and larger villages outside Green Belt
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SOLP)

5.4 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 It is fully acknowledged that the planning committee imposed a condition on the 

previous consent, specifying that the trees at the neighbouring boundaries would be 
retained, and at a height of 5m from ground level at White Lodge. It is regrettable that 
the trees were subsequently removed in breach of this condition and the council has 
lodged an enforcement investigation into this matter. However, the applicant has 
submitted this application to vary the condition in order to provide a replacement 
planting scheme of a similar height to the previous hedging. Whilst it is accepted that 
this situation has caused frustration locally, officers are obliged to assess the current 
application against the Development Plan and consider whether the planting scheme 
now proposed would fulfil the purpose of the original condition. 

6.2 In assessing this application and considering the expediency of possible enforcement 
action, the council must have regard to the national statutory guidance on the use of 
conditions in planning applications. The NPPF clearly states that “Planning conditions 
should only be imposed where they are: necessary; relevant to planning and to the 
development to be permitted; enforceable; precise and; reasonable in all other 
respects.” (Paragraph 206). The NPPG states that: “a condition must not be imposed 
unless there is a definite planning reason for it, i.e. it is needed to make the 
development acceptable in planning terms...if a condition is wider in scope than is 
necessary to achieve the desired objective it will fail the test of necessity”.

6.3 Having regard to the purpose of the original condition, as referenced in the decision 
notice, the main issues for consideration in this application are as follows:-

 Whether the proposal is acceptable in terms of the relationship with the 
surrounding landscape

 Whether the revised boundary treatment would mitigate the current impact upon 
neighbouring amenity to an acceptable degree

Landscape Impact

6.4 The landscaping scheme has been through several revisions since its submission and 
this application itself follows a scheme (P16/S0356/FUL) which was withdrawn following 
officer’s concerns over the adequacy of the pleached trees originally proposed.

Page 129

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S0356/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 14 December 2016

6.5 Although the application site is within the built-up confines of Henley, close to the town 
centre, this area of housing is set back from the residential frontage along Greys Hill, 
and accessed via a relatively secluded private road where there is generally a less rigid 
grain of development.  Although many of the trees and hedges within the site were not 
of particular arboricultural value they did nonetheless contribute to the verdant 
character of the area. Under the original application for the replacement dwelling, 
officers were keen to secure the retention of the boundary treatment in order to mitigate 
the impacts on both neighbouring amenity and the surrounding landscape.
   

6.6 Through extensive discussion with the Forestry Team, officers are satisfied that the 
proposed planting scheme would help soften the visual impact of the proposed dwelling 
and the associated landscaping works.  It is noted that concerns have been raised by a 
neighbour over the decline of the Horse Chestnut tree at the north-west corner of the 
site and the associated safety issues. If the committee are minded to grant approval, it 
is suggested that the conditions allow for a possible variation of the scheme to be 
agreed in writing. Should this tree require removal, details of mitigation planting would 
need to be agreed with the council.

Neighbouring Amenity

6.7 There are objections raised by local residents, Henley Town Council and the local ward 
member to the replacement planting scheme. These argue that the replacement 
planting does not satisfactorily mitigate the privacy impact of the development. The 
neighbours’ specific concerns focus primarily upon the density of the planting already 
undertaken, uncertainties over the maintenance requirements and enforceability of the 
original planning condition.

6.8 Officers have made a number of visits to the application site and neighbouring 
properties and sought specialist advice from the council’s Forestry Team. There are two 
aspects to the scheme under consideration here: the bamboo planting at the boundary 
with Rose Cottage to the south-east; and the Oak planting at the south-west boundary 
with the properties at The Close.

Rose Cottage

6.9 Whilst the dwelling is highly visible from the living accommodation and gardens at Rose 
Cottage, it is well established that the impact of a proposal upon private views is not a 
material planning consideration. The purpose of the original condition was not to screen 
all views of the development, rather it was to ensure that there is an acceptable level of 
privacy to the occupiers of both the new property and the neighbouring dwellings.   

6.10 With regard to overlooking, it is noted that the only first floor window at the new dwelling 
facing Rose Cottage is obscure glazed, as per Condition 4 of the original consent and 
the privacy of the ground floor accommodation at both properties is secured by the 
substantial new fence at the property boundary.  The main window at Rose Cottage 
facing the development serves a landing at the top of the neighbour’s internal stairwell. 
It does not serve a room comprising primary living accommodation. Furthermore, the 
adjacent rooflight serves a bathroom and, due to the distance from the development 
and the roof pitch, there is no loss of privacy. Although there is a front-facing bedroom 
window at Rose Cottage, it is towards the eastern end of the dwelling and it overlooks 
the neighbour’s driveway. Any views of other parts of the application property from this 
room would be very oblique. 

Page 130



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 14 December 2016

6.11 Although officers recognise that the neighbour had expected a higher level of screening 
following discussions with the applicant, officers are satisfied that the boundary 
treatment now implemented addresses potential losses of privacy to both properties 
and it is unreasonable to require any further planting having regard to the lack of 
planning harm and national guidance on the use of planning conditions.

The Close

6.12 Officers accept that the relationship between the application site and the neighbouring 
properties at The Close has significantly changed following the removal of the 
substantial hedging and the scale of the new dwelling. This has inevitably impacted on 
the outlook from the gardens, reduced the level of privacy afforded to these properties 
and increased the perception of overlooking. In assessing the suitability of the 
replacement planting, officers have to accept that it is not reasonable, having regard to 
national and local planning policy, to require new developments to be completely 
screened in views from neighbour’s gardens. In assessing the degree of harm of the 
privacy impact arising from the removal of the trees, officers have regard to the design 
standards set out within the SODG. 

6.13 It is noted that the neighbours all benefit from garden areas close to 10m in depth and 
the application property comfortably exceeds this. The distance between the rear facing 
windows at the application property and the living accommodation at the majority of the 
neighbouring properties also exceeds the 25m minimum recommended in the council’s 
adopted design guidance, irrespective of the loss of the boundary treatment. 

6.14 It is noted that the removal of the previous hedge has resulted in a situation where 
directly facing windows between a projecting gable at White Lodge and the living room 
at no. 43 The Close, are separated by a distance around 1.5m less than the 25m 
SODG recommendation. However, the case officer has visited both properties and is 
satisfied that the planting now undertaken does mitigate the loss of privacy. The view 
from the neighbour’s living room to the bedroom in the gable is already substantially 
obscured by one of the Oak trees and this relationship will improve as the tree 
develops.

6.15 Whilst concerns have been raised over the gaps between the planted trees at both 
boundaries and the timescales for their growth to form a more substantial hedge, this 
aspect of the proposal was discussed with the council’s Forestry Team. Officers are 
advised that the Bamboo will thicken as the plants mature, to provide a denser screen 
which would be relatively easy to maintain. The Quercus will continue to fill the gaps 
over time, provided that the tops are clipped annually. Although it may be the case that 
the full level of opaque replacement hedging expected by the neighbours may take 2 – 
3 years to achieve, the level of screening will continue to develop over this period. 
Officers therefore do not consider that there is a reasonable basis to refuse this 
application as the planting scheme provided will satisfactorily mitigate the loss of 
privacy to the neighbouring properties, to the extent that it fulfils the purpose of the 
original planning condition. 

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 The proposal complies with the relevant Development Plan policies and national 

planning guidance. The Council is satisfied that the proposed replacement planting 
scheme would help soften the visual impact of the development and it would provide a 
reasonable level of privacy for both occupants of the new dwelling and the occupants of 
the surrounding neighbouring properties. 

Page 131



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 14 December 2016

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
To grant planning permission subject to the following conditions:

1. The development hereby approved must be implemented strictly in 
accordance with the approved plans. 

2. Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, the 
agreed planting scheme at the south-east boundary with Rose Cottage 
and the south-west boundary with the properties at The Close, shall be 
preserved and properly maintained as a hedge with a height of at least 5m 
from the ground level at White Lodge. In the event of any of the trees 
dying or being seriously damaged or destroyed, a new tree or equivalent 
number of trees, as the case may be, of a species first approved by the 
Local Planning Authority, shall be planted and properly maintained in a 
position or positions first approved by the Local Planning Authority.

Author: Simon Kitson
Contact No: 01235 422600
Email: planning@southoxon.gov.uk

Page 132



Appendix A

Page 133

Agenda Item 15P16/S2623/FUL



Appendix BP
age 134



SCALE DRAWINGS FOR PLANNING PURPOSES ONLY

ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE CHECKED ON SITE PRIOR

TO COMMENCMENT AND ANY DISCREPANCY REPORTED

TO RCCA

THIS DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT AND CANNOT BE REPRODUCED

IN PART OR WHOLE WITHOUT WRITTEN CONSENT OF RCCA

OUTLINE OF DWELLING 

DEMOLISHED

EXISTING TREES 

RETAINED

EXISTING ACCESS ALTERED TO SUIT NEW

GARAGE LOCATION.

ACCESS TO ROSE COTTAGE MAINTAINED 

AT ALL TIMES

EXISTING TREES 

RETAINED

EXISTING WALL

RETAINED

CONTRACT

CLIENT

DRAWING

DRAWN

SCALE

DATE

JOB / DRWG No COPYRIGHT

C

Clarks Barn, Bassetsbury Lane, High Wycombe, Bucks  HP11 1QX

T 01494 888000    F 01494 888008  E RICClark@richardclarkarchitects.co.uk

REVISIONS

A      CAR TURNING NOTED                              JUNE 15

P
age 135



SCALE DRAWINGS FOR PLANNING PURPOSES ONLY

ALL DIMENSIONS TO BE CHECKED ON SITE PRIOR

TO COMMENCMENT AND ANY DISCREPANCY REPORTED

TO RCCA

THIS DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT AND CANNOT BE REPRODUCED

IN PART OR WHOLE WITHOUT WRITTEN CONSENT OF RCCA

CONTRACT

CLIENT

DRAWING

DRAWN

SCALE

DATE

JOB / DRWG No COPYRIGHT

C

Clarks Barn, Bassetsbury Lane, High Wycombe, Bucks  HP11 1QX

T 01494 888000    F 01494 888008  E RICClark@richardclarkarchitects.co.uk

P
age 136



www.southoxon.gov.uk page 1 / 7

PLANNING

Oraclemarker Ltd
c/o Mr Richard Clark
Clarks Barn
Bassetsbury Lane
High Wycombe
Buckinghamshire
HP11 1QX

PLANNING PERMISSION

South Oxfordshire District Council hereby gives notice that planning permission is
GRANTED for the carrying out of the development referred to above strictly in
accordance with the description, plans and specifications contained in the application
(as varied by any amendments as referred to above) subject to the following
condition(s) : 

The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than
the expiration of three years beginning with the date of this permission.

Reason: By virtue of Sections 91 to 95 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990 as amended by section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act
2004.

That the development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with
the details shown on the following approved plans, 1373-P1, 1373-P2 and
LOC-001, except as controlled or modified by conditions of this permission.

Reason: To secure the proper planning of the area in accordance with
Development Plan policies.

1.

2.

Planning Decision

Application No : P15/S1166/FUL

Application proposal, including any amendments :
Demolition of existing dwelling and erection of new house and garage

Site Location : White Lodge Normanstead Henley-on-Thames RG9 1XR

P15/S1166/FUL

Page 137



page 2 / 7

P15/S1166/FUL

Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved, a turning area
and car parking spaces shall be provided within the curtilage of the site so that
motor vehicles may enter, turn round and leave in a forward direction and
vehicles may park off the highway. The turning area and parking spaces shall
be constructed, laid out, surfaced, drained and completed in strict accordance
with the approved plans.  The turning area and car parking spaces shall be
retained unobstructed except for the parking and manoeuvring of motor
vehicles at all times.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to ensure the provision of off-
street car parking in accordance with Policies T1 and T2 of the South
Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011.

The surfacing for the new parking area to the front of the site shall be
constructed in permeable materials, or provision shall be made to direct surface
water run-off to a permeable area within the curtilage of the site.

Reason: In order to ensure that no surface water is discharged on to the
adjacent highway.

Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved samples of all
materials to be used in the external construction and finishes of the
development hereby permitted shall be submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of the visual appearance of the development in
accordance with Policy CSQ3 of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy 2027 and
Policies G2, H4 and D1 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011.

The first floor window in the south-east (side) elevation of the dwelling hereby
permitted shall be glazed in obscure glass, and shall be fixed shut with the
exception of a top hung openable fanlight, prior to the first occupation of the
accommodation and it shall be retained as such thereafter.

Reason: To ensure that the development is not unneighbourly in accordance
with Policies D4 and H4 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011.

The garage accommodation hereby approved shall be retained as such and
shall not be adapted for living purposes without the prior written permission of
the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to ensure the provision of
adequate off-street car parking in accordance with Policies T1 and T2 of the
South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011.

Prior to the commencement of any site works (including demolition or site
clearance) a protected area shall be designated for all existing trees which are

3.

4.

5.

6.

7.

8.

Page 138



page 3 / 7

P15/S1166/FUL

shown to be retained, and the trees shall be protected in accordance with a
scheme which complies with the current edition of BS 5837: "Trees in relation
to design, demolition and construction" that shall first have been submitted to,
and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.  The agreed measures
shall be kept in place during the entire course of development.

Reason: To safeguard trees which are visually important in accordance with
Policy CSQ3 of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy 2027 and Policies G2, C9
and D1 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011.

Details of all boundary walls, fences and any other means of enclosure shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the
commencement of any development. All such approved means of enclosure
shall be erected prior to the first occupation of the development.

Reason: In the interests of the visual appearance of the development in
accordance with Policy CSQ3 of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy 2027 and
Policies G2, H4 and D1 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011.

Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, all existing
hedges and trees shown to be retained, at the south-east boundary with Rose
Cottage and the south-west boundary with the properties at The Close, shall be
preserved and properly maintained at a height of at least 5m from the ground
level at White Lodge. In the event of any of the trees dying or being seriously
damaged or destroyed, a new tree or equivalent number of trees, as the case
may be, of a species first approved by the Local Planning Authority, shall be
planted and properly maintained in a position or positions first approved by the
Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of neighbouring amenity and to safeguard trees and
other vegetation which are visually important, in accordance with Policy CSQ3
of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy 2027 and Policies D4, G2, C9 and D1
of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011.

A Construction Traffic Management Plan (CTMP) shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement
of development.  The approved CTMP shall be implemented prior to any works
being carried out on site, and shall be maintained throughout the course of the
development.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to mitigate the impact of
construction vehicles on the surrounding highway network, road infrastructure
and local residents, particularly at morning and afternoon peak traffic times and
in accordance with Policy T1 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011.

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking or re-enacting that

9.

10.

11.

12.

Page 139



page 4 / 7

P15/S1166/FUL

Order), the enlargement, improvement or other alteration of any dwellinghouse
as described in Schedule 2, Part 1, Class A of the Order shall not be
undertaken without the prior written permission of the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason: To ensure the Local Planning Authority retains control over any future
development as specified in the condition in the interests of amenity and in
accordance with Policy CSQ3 of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy 2027 and
Policies G2, H4 and D1 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011.

INFORMATIVE:
Your attention is drawn to the need to have regard to the requirements of UK
and European legislation related to the protection of certain wild plants and
animals. Approval under that legislation will be required and a licence may be
necessary if bats are affected by the development. If bats are discovered you
must be aware that to proceed with the development without seeking advice
from Natural England could result in prosecution.

The above permission/consent may contain pre-conditions, which require
specific matters to be approved by the Local Planning Authority before a
specified stage in the development occurs.  This means that a lawful
commencement of the approved development/works cannot be made until the
particular requirements of the pre-condition(s) have been met.  Please read the
letter attached to the decision notice for further information.

This approval is specific to the details of the development as shown on the
approved plans and other associated documentation.  Unless otherwise agreed
by the Council any departure from the approved plans will constitute
unauthorised development and may be liable to enforcement action.  As such
the Council must be advised in writing of any proposed variations from the
approved plans and other associated documentation at the earliest stage
possible.  A decision will then be made as to whether the changes can be dealt
with as a minor revision to the approved details or whether a revised application
is required.

This permission refers only to that required under the Town and Country Planning
Acts and does not include any consent or approval under any other enactment,
byelaw, order or regulation.

NB:

NB:

NB:

Page 140



page 5 / 7

P15/S1166/FUL

Head of Planning
1st July 2015

The proposal is in accordance with the relevant development plan policies and
national planning policy.  The proposal would not cause material harm to the overall
character and appearance of the surrounding area. Subject to the attached
conditions, the proposal is also considered acceptable in terms of the impact upon
the amenities of neighbouring occupiers it would not be prejudicial to highway safety.

Reason for Decision 

In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Policy
Framework the Council takes a positive and proactive approach to development
proposals. The Planning Service works with applicants/agents in a positive and
proactive manner by offering a pre-application advice service and by advising
applicants/agents of issues that arise during the processing of their application and
where possible suggesting solutions to problems.

Note : A more detailed explanation is available in the officer's report, available in the
application case file.

Adverse affect on protected species
Loss of landscape features
Presumption in favour of sustainable development
The Strategy for Henley-on-Thames
Design
The Overall Strategy
Principles of good design
Outdoor amenity area
Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
Protect district from adverse development
Housing sites in towns and larger villages outside Green Belt
Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

C8
C9
CS1
CSHEN1
CSQ3
CSS1
D1
D3
D4
G2
H4
T1
T2

Key Policies 
1

Note : The full wording of the above policies are available on our website or in the
local plan documents, at our offices.

Page 141



page 6 / 7

P15/S1166/FUL

STATUTORY INFORMATIVE

Appeals to the Secretary of State

If you are aggrieved by the decision of your local planning authority to refuse
permission for the proposed development or to grant it subject to conditions, then
you can appeal to the Secretary of State for the Environment under sections 78 and
79 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

If you want to appeal, then you must do so within six months of the date of this
notice, using a form which you can get from :

The Planning Inspectorate
Customer Support Unit
Temple Quay House
2 The Square
Temple Quay
Bristol
BS1 6PN
Telephone : 0303 444 5000
www.planningportal.gov.uk
email: enquiries@pins.gsi.gov.uk.

The Secretary of State can allow a longer period for giving notice of an appeal, but
he will not normally be prepared to use this power unless there are special
circumstances which excuse the delay in giving notice of appeal.

The Secretary of State need not consider an appeal if it seems to him that the local
planning authority could not have granted planning permission for the proposed
development or could not have granted it without the conditions it imposed, having
regard to the statutory requirements, to the provisions of the development order and
to any directions given under the order.

In practice, the Secretary of State does not refuse to consider appeals solely
because the local planning authority based its decision on a direction given by him.

Purchase Notice

If either the local planning authority or the Secretary of State for the Environment
refuses permission to develop land or grants its subject to conditions, the owner may
claim that he can neither put the land to a reasonably beneficial use in its existing
state nor can he render the land capable of a reasonably beneficial use by the
carrying out of any development which has been or would be permitted.

In these circumstances, the owner may serve a purchase notice on the Council

Page 142



page 7 / 7

P15/S1166/FUL

(District Council, London Borough Council or Common Council of the City of London)
in whose area the land is situated.  This notice will require the Council to purchase
his interest in the land in accordance with the provisions of Part VI, Chapter 1 of the
Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

Compensation

In certain circumstances compensation may be claimed from the local planning
authority if permission is refused or granted subject to conditions by the Secretary of
State on appeal or on reference of the application to him.

These circumstances are set out in sections 114 and related provisions of the Town
and Country Planning Act 1990.

OTHER INFORMATION

The Planning Portal contains a wide range of helpful planning-related guidance and
services. You may wish to view their website (www.planningportal.gov.uk). 

Page 143



Appendix CP
age 144


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	Minutes

	7 P16/S1140/FUL - Longwood, Maidensgrove
	P16/S1140/FUL - Longwood, Maidensgrove - Appendices
	Appendix A
	Appendix B.1
	Appendix B.2
	Appendix B.3
	Appendix B.4
	Appendix B.5
	Appendix B.6


	8 P16/S2459/FUL - 116-118 Greys Road, Henley-on-Thames
	P16/S2459/FUL - 116-118 Greys Road, Henley-on-Thames - Appendices
	Appendia A
	Appendix B1
	Appendix B2
	Appendix B3
	Appendix B4
	Appendix B5
	Appendix B6


	9 P16/S2785/FUL - 35 Marston Road, Thame
	P16/S2785/FUL - 35 Marston Road, Thame - Appendices
	1 Appendix A
	2 Appendix Bi
	2a Appendix Bii
	3 Appendix C
	Appendix D


	10 P16/S3516/FUL - 7 Gidley Way, Horspath
	P16/S3516/FUL - 7 Gidley Way, Horspath - Appendices
	Full page photo
	planning2 P01_ProposedPlans (B)
	Proposed Elevations drwgno P02


	11 P16/S3461/FUL - 25 Henley Road, Shillingford
	P16/S3461/FUL - 25 Henley Road, Shillingford - Appendices
	1 GISFull page photo
	2 Letter from KG_24052016_143048
	3 Proposed Site Plan drwgno P01
	3a Proposed Site Plan drwgno P01A
	3b Proposed Elevations drwgno P03
	3c Proposed Plans and Section drwgno P02
	4 PProposed site plan dwg PA02
	4a PProposed floor plan and elevations dwg PA3_Plan
	5 Block Plan Proposed drwgno 16058 - CL01
	5a Floor Plan GF+Elevations Proposed drwgno 16058 - CL02


	12 P16/S2292/FUL and P16/S2293/FUL - The Farmhouse and Breach Farm Barn, Wheatley Road, Stanton St John
	P16/S2292/FUL and P16/S2293/FUL - The Farmhouse; and Breach Farm Barn - Appendices
	1 Site plan
	2 Site plan showing units
	3 RAC Agricultural consultant advice


	13 P16/S3587/FUL - Land adjacent to Eyres Lane and Eyres Close, Ewelme
	P16/S3587/FUL - Land adjacent to Eyres Lane and Eyres Close, Eyres Close, Ewelme - Appendices
	1 Site Location
	2. Block Plan drwgno BLO001


	14 P16/S2811/FUL - Land on the north side of the A4130 near Oakley Wood, Springfield Park, Nuffield
	P16/S2811/FUL - Land on the north side of the A4130 near Oakley Wood, Springfield Park, Nuffield - Appendices
	Appendix A
	Appendix B


	15 P16/S2623/FUL - White Lodge, Normanstead, Henley-on-Thames
	P16/S2623/FUL - White Lodge, Normanstead, Henley-on-Thames - Appendices
	1 GIS Full page photo
	2 Location plan drwgno LOC-001
	2a 1373-P2A
	2b Composite Elevations front, side, rear and floor plans ground, first propossed drwgno 1373-P1
	2c Decision Notices 
	3 Boundary Treatments Plan drwgno 1643 LP1 Rev C





